Grad Works

Pocket Handbook Series

The **Black Book** of Psychotropic Dosing and Monitoring

Charles DeBattista, MD Alan F. Schatzberg, MD

A Supplement to

Psychopharmacology

Adapted from

Psychopharmacology

DeBattista C, Schatzberg AF. The Black Book of Psychotropic Dosing and Monitoring. *Psychopharmacol Bull*. 2021;51(1):8–58.

DISCLAIMER

This pocket reference is provided as a service to medicine by the publisher, Medworks Media Inc. This review does not imply the publisher's agreement with the views expressed herein.

Although every effort has been made to ensure that drug doses and other information are presented accurately in this publication, the ultimate responsibility rests with the prescribing physician. Neither the publisher, nor the authors can be held responsible for errors or for any consequences arising from the use of information contained herein. Readers are strongly urged to consult any relevant primary literature. No claims or endorsements are made for any drug or compound currently under clinical investigation.

In an effort to allow for the widest distribution of these guidelines, the authors have modified the originally printed material to more closely conform to the limitations of product labeling. For many of the drugs discussed herein, initiation at lower doses may increase tolerability and efficacy.

Copyright ©2000, ©2007, ©2018, 2021. MedWorks Media Inc., 2205 Rockefeller Lane, Redondo Beach, CA 90278.

Printed in the USA. All rights reserved, including the right of reproduction, in whole or in part, in any form. The "Black Book of Psychotropic Dosing and Monitoring" is a trademark of MedWorks Media Inc.

DISCLOSURES

Research support: Biolite, PCORI, Compass, Janssen, Sage

Consultant: Alkermes, Corcept, Sage

BLACK BOOK 2021.indd 2 1/21/2021 4:44:15 PM

The **Black Book** of Psychotropic Dosing and Monitoring

2021

Charles DeBattista, MD Alan F. Schatzberg, MD

Dr. DeBattista is Professor of psychiatry and director of the Depression Research Clinic in the Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences at the Stanford University School of Medicine in California.

Dr. Schatzberg is Kenneth T. Norris, Jr. professor in the Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences at the Stanford University School of Medicine in California.



www.medworksmedia.com

BLACK BOOK 2021.indd 3 1/21/2021 4:44:16 PM

Contents

Introduction The Black Book of Psychotropic Dosing and Monitoring	6
Dosage Ranges	
Table 1 Psychotropic Drug Dosage Ranges ^{30,39–47}	10
Antidepressants	
Table 2 Mood Disorders: Antidepressants ^{29,30,40–43,45,46,48–54}	12
Table 3 Pharmacokinetic Comparison of Selected Antidepressants ^{29,30,55,56}	14
Table 4 Central Nervous System Neurotransmitters: Selected Antidepressant Effects ^{29,30,55,57}	16
Table 5 Substrates, Inh1bitors, and Inducers of Some Important Cytochrome p450 (cyp) Isoforms ^{29,58–62}	16
Table 6 Examples of Drugs* That Might Interact with an Antidepressant ³¹	20
Table 7 Examples of Drug Interactions ^{29,30,58,61-67}	22
Antidepressants Monitoring	
Table 8 TCA Monitoring ^{29,30}	24
Table 9 Intranasal Esketamine BP/HR Monitoring ^{4,29,30}	24
Table 10 Brexanalone IV Monitoring ^{5,6,30}	25
Mood Stabilizers	
Table 11 Mood Stabilizers ^{29,30,68,73}	27
Table 12 Baseline and Routine Monitoring Parameters for Mood Stabilizers ^{29,30,34–36,69,72–73}	28
Anxiolytics/Hypnotics	
Table 13 Benzodiazepine Anxiolytics* ^{29,30,40,53,54}	30
Table 14 Nonbenzodiazepine Anxiolytics ^{29,30,75–77}	32
Table 15 Benzodiazepine Drug Interactons ^{29,30, 61,62}	32

THE BLACK BOOK OF PSYCHOTROPIC DOSING AND MONITORING

Table 16 Hypnotic Agents ^{29,30,40–53}	32
Antipsychotics	
Table 17 First Generation Antipsychotic Dosages and Adverse Effects ^{29,30,40,41,44}	35
Table 18 Second Generation Antipsychotic Dosages and Adverse Effects ^{29,30,32,33,47,78–81}	36
Table 19 Pharmacokinetic Parameters and Dosing of Depot and Long Acting Antipsychotics*29,30,82,83	38
Table 20 Antiparkinsonian Agents ^{29,30,42,84,86}	38
Table 21 Antipsychotic Drug Interactions ^{29,30,61–79,86}	39
Table 22 Acute Neurologic Side Effects of Antipsychotic Medications ^{29,30,79,86,87}	41
Table 23 Pharmacokinetic Parameters of Selected Oral Antipsychotics ^{29,30,40,41,79,84–88}	42
Table 24 APA/ADA Recommendations for Patients Who Are Taking Antipsychotics*	42
Table 25 VMAT Inhibitors for the Treatment of Tardive Dyskinesia ^{19,20,29,30}	44
Clozapine Monitoring	
Table 26 Clozapine Monitoring by Acute Neutrophil Count (ANC) Level for the General Population. (For patients with Benign Ethnic Neutropenia, please see clozapine REMs)	46
Table 27 Anorexiants ^{29,30,64–71,89–91}	46
Table 28 Psychostimulants ^{29,30,92}	47
Table 29 Drugs for Alzheimer's Disease ^{29,30,38,40,93,97} (Cholinesterase Inhibitors)	48
Table 30 Adverse Effects of Cholinesterase Inhibitors ^{29,30,37,39,93–96,98,99}	48
References	50
Appendix	56
THE BLACK BOOK OF PSYCHOTROPIC DOSING AND MONITORING	5

Introduction

THE BLACK BOOK OF PSYCHOTROPIC DOSING AND MONITORING

By Charles DeBattista, MD and Alan F. Schatzberg, MD

Psychotropics continue to be among the most commonly prescribed medications in clinical practice. There are over 380 million outpatient psychotropic prescriptions in the US every year Greenblatt et al. (2018). The majority of these prescriptions are for antidepressants (58%) followed by anxiolytics (22%), hypnotics (14%) and antipsychotics (5%). Since the last edition of this Black Book in 2016, a large number many new psychotropics have been approved by the FDA and are now in clinical use.

Over the past several years, there has been a paradigm shift in antidepressant development. Historically, antidepressants have been oral agents which generally take 4-8 weeks to achieve maximum benefit at therapeutic doses. Two antidepressants have been approved that have been demonstrated efficacy in improving symptoms of major depression in hours or days as opposed to months. One of these, esketamine (Spravato), is the S enantiomer of ketamine which has been used as an anesthetic and for pain management since the 1960's. While IV ketamine has long been demonstrated to be rapidly effective for treatment resistant depression, IV use require regular visits to a clinic and is generally not covered by insurance. Esketamine (Spravato) is an intranasal preparation which is typically administered twice weekly for 4 weeks, one weekly for 3 weeks, and then every week or two thereafter. Esketamine, like ketamine, is a schedule 3 drug that require a REMs registration of patients and providers and carries some risk of abuse. Like ketamine, the most common symptoms

6

THE BLACK BOOK OF PSYCHOTROPIC DOSING AND MONITORING

include nausea, dissociation, and increases in blood pressure and heart rate. Thus, patients have to be observed for at least two hours in the clinic after each administration and cannot drive to or from the clinic for each visit. In addition, since ketamine and S ketamine can be habituating, it is important to adhere to the guidelines for frequency and duration of dosing.

Another rapidly acting antidepressant approved in 2019 is brexanolone (Zulresso). Brexanalone is an allosteric modulator of GABA-a approved for the treatment of post partum depression. Like esketamine, it require a REMS registration but unlike esketamine, requires observation in a hospital or overnight clinic over the course of the 60 hour infusion because of the risk of sudden sedation. Another difference from esketamine, whose antidepressant effects typically only last 5–7 days and thus requires repeated administration, brexanolone's antidepressant effects are observed by 60 hours and have been demonstrated to last at least 30 days from the initiation of treatment. The most common side effects of brexanolone are sedation/drowsiness, dizziness/ sensation of spinning, and the sensation that one or the surroundings are moving. Brexanolone is a schedule IV drug.

The class of antipsychotic medications has seen the largest number of new additions of any class of psychotropics in recent years. These have included Cariprazine (Vraylar), Brexpiprazole (Rexulti), and lumataperone (Caplyta). While these second generation do not appear to improve efficacy over other second generation antipsychotics, they do provide additional options for clinician, and may have advantages in side effect profile or ease of use. For example, cariprazine became only the fourth drug approved for the treatment of bipolar depression, and brexpiprazole is only the third drug approved in the adjunctive treatment of major depressive disorder. Lumataperone is unique among antipsychotics in that it has single dose (42 mg) that is both the starting and therapeutic dose. All the newer agents have a somewhat better metabolic profile than older agents such

7

as olanzapine and quetiapine but still require metabolic monitoring.

In addition to newer antipsychotic drugs, there are a number of new formulations of older agents. For example, Invega Trinza is a long acting injectable formulation of paliperidone that last 3 months. As such it is the longest acting injectable antipsychotic that may require only 4 administrations per year. Asenapine, which is a sublingual drug approved for the treatment of schizophrenia, now is also available as the first and only transdermal (Secuado) antipsychotic. Some patients may find the patch more tolerable and convenient than sublingual asenapine including less food and drink restrictions, less hypoesthesia or distortion in the sense of taste, as well as more stable blood levels of the drug. There is even the availability of a smart pill (Abilify Mycite) which has an ingestible sensor embedded in each pill with blue-tooth tooth connection to a wearable patch that allows clinicians and patients to monitor adherence to taking the medication daily. Whether a chronically psychotic patient is likely to agree to swallowing a radio transmitter is not clear. Still, this type of digital monitoring may be useful for some patients who may not want a long acting injectable (Abilify Maintena, Aristada) but have trouble taking a daily medication.

One of the most serious potential long-term side effects of antipsychotics is tardive dyskinesia (TD). There has been no reliable treatment for TD until the approval of VMAT2 inhibitors in the past few years. The VMAT2 inhibitors work by reducing dopamine overstimulation without blocking D2 receptors. Two VMAT2 inhibitors, valbenazine (Ingrezza) and deutetrabenazine (Austedo) have been FDA approved to treat TD since the last edition of the Black Book. While some improvement in TD is often seen in the first 2 weeks of treatment, these drug work in a slow measured way with improvement accumulating over up to 3 years of use. The most common side effects of these drugs are drowsiness and anticholinergic side effects including dry mouth, constipation, urinary retention, and blurred vision. Qt prolongation is also a possible side effect EKG monitoring is suggested.

Among the hypnotics, the most innovative recent advance has been the introduction of Dual Orexin Receptor Antagonists (DORAs). The first of these was approved in 2013 (Suvorexant; Belsomra) for sleep onset and maintenance insomnia, and another, lemborexant (Dayvigo) approved in late 2019 for insomnia. The DORAs appear to work on hypocretin/orexin endogenous system which regulates the sleep cycle. While the mechanism of action is unique, it not clear if this translates to advantages over less expensive, generically available hypnotics such as zolpidem. Possible advantages may include a lower risk of falls and possibly less time awake after falling asleep compared to benzodiazepine hypnotics or agents such as zolpidem and eszopiclone.

In addition to updating the Black Book on new drugs and formulations, we have added a number of new tables to assist with monitoring of antidepressants and antipsychotics. Since monitoring of patients on psychotropics also involves the monitoring of clinical symptoms, we have also included a number of common psychiatric scales available in the public domain for easy reference including the PHQ9 and Quick Inventory of Depressive Symptomatology (QIDs) for depression, the Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale (BPRS) for psychotic disorders, the Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD-7) for anxiety, and the Abnormal Involuntary Movement Scale (AIMS) for assessing extrapyramidal symptoms. These scales can help track the progress of patients on psychotropic and are increasingly used in the clinical setting. We hope that this edition of the Black Book proves as useful as some of the earlier editions have been. 1-30

Dosage Ranges

Table 1: PSYCHOTROPIC DRUG DOSAGE RANGES30,39-47

Generic	Brand Name	Dosage Range* (mg/day)
Alprazolam	Xanax	0.75–10
Amitriptyline	Elavil, Endep, Enovil	50–300
Amoxapine	Asendin	50-600
Armodafinil	Nuvigil	150–250
Asenapine	Saphris	5–10 mg BID sublingua
Лоспарінс	Secuado	3.8–7.6 mg patch/24hr
Brexpiprazole	Rexulti	2–4
Bupropion	Wellbutrin,	200–450
виргоріоп	Wellbutrin SR,	150-400
	Zyban [†]	150–300
D:		150–300
Buspirone Carbamazanina [†]	BuSpar Epitol, Tegretol	400-1,600
Carbamazepine‡		
Cariprazine	Vraylar Librium, Libritabs,	3–6 I5–I00
Chlordiazepoxide§		15-100
<u></u>	Mitran	30.000
Chlorpromazine ^{II}	Ormazine, Thorazine	30-800
Citalopram	Celexa	20–60
Clomipramine	Anafranil	25–250
Clonazepam**	Klonopin	0.50-4
Clorazepate§	ClorazeCaps,	15–60
	ClorazeTabs,	
	Gen-XENE,	
	Tranxene	
Clozapine	Clozaril	12.5-900
Desipramine	Norpramin,	25-300
	Pertofrane	
Desvenlafaxine	Pristiq	50-100
Diazepam	Valium, Valrelease,	4-40
·	Zetran	
Doxepin	Adapin, Sinequan	25-300
Droperidol	Inapsine	2.5-15
Duloxetine	Cymbalta	40-120
Eszopiclone	Lunesta	I-3
Fluoxetine	Prozac, Sarafem	20-80
Fluphenazine	Permitil, Prolixin	1–40
Flurazepam	Dalmane	15–30
Fluvoxamine	Luvox	50-300
Gabapentin	Neurontin	300–3,600
Galantamine	Reminyl	16–32
Halazepam	Paxipam	60-160
Haloperidol	Haldol	1–100
lloperidone	Fanapt	6-12 mg BID
Imipramine	Janimine, Tofranil	50–300
Isocarboxazid	Marplan	20-60
Lamotrigine	Lamictal	25-400
Lemborexant	Dayvigo	5
Levomilnacipran	Fetzima	40-120
Lisdexamfetamine	Vivance	30–70
Lithium	Cibalith-S, Eskalith,	600-1,800
	Lithane, Lithobid,	333-1,000
Lorazonam	Lithonate, Lithotabs Ativan	1–10
Lorazepam		20–250
Loxapine	Loxitane	
Lumataperone	Caplyta	42
Lurasidone	Latuda	40–160

10

THE BLACK BOOK OF PSYCHOTROPIC DOSING AND MONITORING

		Dosage Range*
Generic	Brand Name	(mg/day)
Maprotiline	Ludiomil	25–225
Methylphenidate HCI	Concerta	18–54
	Ritalin, Ritalin-SR	10–60
Mirtazapine	Remeron	15-45
Modafinil	Provigil	100-400
Nefazodone	Serzone	200-600
Nortriptyline	Aventyl, Pamelor	75–150
Olanzapine	Zyprexa	5–20
Oxazepam	Serax	30-120
Oxcarbazepine	Trileptal	600-1,200
Paroxetine ^{††}	Paxil	20-60
Perphenazine	Trilafon	12-64
Phenelzine	Nardil	15–90
Pimozide	Orap	1–10
Prazepam	Centrax	30-60
Protriptyline	Vivactil	15–60
Quazepam	Doral	7.5–15
Quetiapine	Seroquel	50-750
Risperidone	Risperdal	2–16
Rivastigmine	Exelon	6–12
Sertraline	Zoloft	50-200
Suvorexant	Belsomra	10–20
Temazepam	Restoril	15–30
Thioridazine	Mellaril	20-800
Thiothixene	Navane	6–60
Tiagabine	Gabitril	4–32
Topiramate	Topamax	50-400
Tranylcypromine	Parnate	30-60
Trazodone	Desyrel	150-600
Triazolam	Halcion	0.125-0.5
Trifluoperazine	Stelazine	2–40
Trimipramine	Surmontil	50-300
Valproic Acid/ Divalproex	Depakene,	750-4,200
	Depakote	
Venlafaxine ^{‡‡}	Effexor,	75–375
	Effexor XR***	75–225
Vilazodone	Viibryd	30–40 mg
Vortioxetine	Trintillex	10–20
Zaleplon	Sonata	5–20
Ziprasidone	Geodon	40–160
Zolpidem	Ambien	5–10

^{*}Recommended dosages may vary by indication. Dosage ranges include starting doses that may not represent effective dosages. Some drugs may be contraindicated or may require lower doses in pediatric, geriatric, or debilitated patients. Consult the prescribing information of individual drugs for more detailed information.

*Typban is indicated as an aid to smoking cessation.

11

[†]Although carbamazepine is not approved by the FDA for psychiatric indications, the authors view it as one of the most important agents available for the treatment of bipolar disorder. This view is supported in the medical literature.

 $^{^{\}rm 9}{\rm For}$ alcohol detoxification and withdrawal, doses of up to 300 mg of chlordiazepoxide and 90 mg of clorazepate may be warranted.

^{Il}Labeling suggests that higher doses in severe cases may be appropriate, up to 2,000 mg/day, but little therapeutic gain is achieved by >1,000 mg/day for extended periods. Intramuscular doses may be necessary.

**Starting dosage of clonazepam should not be >1.5 mg/day for PD but doses up to 20 mg/day are appropriate for achieved the starting dosage of clonazepam should not be >1.5 mg/day for PD but doses up to 20 mg/day are appropriate for achieved the starting dosage of clonazepam should not be >1.5 mg/day for PD but doses up to 20 mg/day are appropriate for achieved the starting dosage of clonazepam should not be >1.5 mg/day for PD but doses up to 20 mg/day are achieved the starting dosage of clonazepam should not be >1.5 mg/day for PD but doses up to 20 mg/day are achieved the starting dosage of clonazepam should not be >1.5 mg/day for PD but doses up to 20 mg/day are achieved the starting dosage of clonazepam should not be >1.5 mg/day for PD but doses up to 20 mg/day are achieved the starting dosage of clonazepam should not be >1.5 mg/day for PD but doses up to 20 mg/day are achieved the starting dosage of clonazepam should not be >1.5 mg/day for PD but doses up to 20 mg/day are achieved the starting dosage of clonazepam should not be >1.5 mg/day for PD but doses up to 20 mg/day are achieved the starting dosage of clonazepam should not be >1.5 mg/day for PD but doses up to 20 mg/day are achieved the starting dosage of clonazepam should not be >1.5 mg/day for PD but doses up to 20 mg/day are achieved the starting dosage of clonazepam should not be >1.5 mg/day for PD but doses up to 20 mg/day are achieved the starting dosage of clonazepam should not be >1.5 mg/day for PD but doses up to 20 mg/day for 20 mg/day for 20 mg/day for 20 mg/day for 20 mg

approved for seizure disorders. $^{\dagger\dagger}Dosage$ range for paroxetine adjusted for OCD and PD.

^{**}Recommended starting dose is 75 mg/day.

^{***37.5} mg/day for 4–7 days is an initial dosing option.

Antidepressants

Table 2: MOOD DISORDERS: ANTIDEPRESSANTS^{29,30,40-43,45,46,48-54}

		Typical Dosage
	Typical Starting	Range*
Drug	Dosage (mg)	(mg/day)
Amitriptyline	25 TID or 50 QHS	50–300
(Elavil, Endep, Enovil)	FA DID/TID	FO. 700
Amoxapine (Asendin)	50 BID/TID	50-600
Brexanalone (Zulresso)	30 mcg/kg/hr IV	30–90 mcg/kg/hr × 60 hrs
Bupropion (Wellbutrin)	100 BID	200-450 [‡]
Bupropion SR (Wellbutrin SR)	I50 QAM	150-400 [‡]
Bupropion XL	150 QD	300-450 QD
(Wellbutrin XL)	150 QD	300 130 Q2
Bupropion SR (Zyban)	150 QD	150-300‡
Citalopram (Celexa)	20	20–60
Clomipramine (Anafranil)	25-100 QD in	25–250
	divided doses	
	within first 2 weeks	
Desipramine (Norpramin, Pertofrane)	25 TID	100–300
Desvenlafaxine (Pristiq)	50 mg	50-100 mg
Doxepin (Sinequan)	25 TID	75–300
Duloxetine (Cymbalta)	20	40–120
Esketamine intransal	56 mg Intranal	56–84
(Spravato)		
Fluoxetine (Prozac, Sarafem)	20 QD	20–80
Fluvoxamine (Luvox)	50 QD	50-300
Imipramine (Janimine, Tofranil)	25 TID	75–300
Maprotiline (Ludiomil)	25 TID	75–225
Isocarboxazid (Marplan)	10	20-60
Levomilnacipran (Fetzima)	20	40-120
Milnacipran (Savella)	12.5 mg	50-100 mg BID
Mirtazapine (Remeron)	15 QHS	15–45
Nefazodone (Serzone)	I00 BID	200–600
Nortriptyline (Aventyl, Pamelor)	25 TID/QD	75–150
Paroxetine (Paxil)**	20 QAM	10–60
Phenelzine (Nardil)	I5 TID	15–90
Protriptyline (Vivactil)	5 TID	15–60
Sertraline (Zoloft)	50 QAM	50–200
Tranylcypromine (Parnate)	Individualized	30–60

FDA Indication(s)	Proposed Therapeutic Plasma Concentration (ng/mL)
Depression	120-250 [†]
Depression, psychotic depression	
Post Partum Depression	
<u> </u>	
Depression	<100 [†]
Depression	
Depression	
Smoking cessation	
Depression	_
OCD	100–250
Depression	115–180 [§]
Depression, anxiety	
Depression, anxiety, psychotic depressive	70-250 [†]
disorders with associated anxiety	
Depression, anxiety, neuropathic pain,	_
chronic pain	
Depression, Suicidality in Depression	_
Depression, OCD, bulimia nervosa, PMDD	_
OCD	_
Depression, childhood enuresis	200–250 ^{†,§}
Depression	
Depression	
Depression	
Fibromyalgia	
Depression	_
Depression	_
Depression	50-150§
Depression, OCD, PD, social anxiety disorder, GAD	_
Depression, atypical depression	
Depression	70–250
Depression, OCD, PD, PTSD	
Depression, depression without melancholia	

THE BLACK BOOK OF PSYCHOTROPIC DOSING AND MONITORING

Table 2: MOOD DISORDERS: ANTIDEPRESSANTS^{29,30,40–43,45,46,48–54} (CONT'D)

Typical Starting Dosage (mg)	Range* (mg/day)
50 TID	150-600
25 TID	50-300
37.5 BID	75–375
37.5–75 QD	75–225
I0 mg	20-40 mg
I0 mg	10–20
	50 TID 25 TID 37.5 BID 37.5-75 QD

^{*}In geriatric patients, the appropriate dosage is widely variable, but in general it is one half the young adult dosage range for TCAs and for compounds with significant cardiovascular toxicity.

 $PTSD \!=\! posttraumatic\ stress\ disorder.$

Table 3: PHARMACOKINETIC COMPARISON OF SELECTED ANTIDEPRESSANTS^{29,30,55,56}

Sertraline	Fluoxetine
26	48–72
0-30% activity	Equal
62-104	96–384
7–10	28–35
Yes	No
98	94.5
No	Yes
scitaLopram	VenLafaxine
27–33	3–7
1 25.5	F 1
Low activity	Equal
Low activity	9–13
7–10	
_ ′	9–13
— 7–10	9–13 3
	26 20–30% activity 62–104 7–10 Yes 98 No scitaLopram 27–33

[†]Parent and metabolite.

 $^{^{\}ddagger}Not$ >150 mg/dose. Zyban is indicated as an aid to smoking cessation.

[§]Therapeutic drug monitoring is well established.

^{**}Dosage range for paroxetine adjusted for OCD and PD.

 $^{^{\}dagger\dagger}37.5~\text{mg/day}$ for 4–7 days is an initial dosing option.

FDA=Food and Drug Administration; OCD=obsessive-compulsive disorder;

PMDD=premenstrual dysphoric disorder; PD=panic disorder; GAD=generalized anxiety disorder;

FDA Indication(s)	Proposed Therapeutic Plasma Concentration (ng/mL)
Depression	_
Depression	_
Depression	
Depression, GAD	_
Depression	_
Depression	

Paroxetine	Esket	amine	Fluvoxamine
21 (mean)	7–12		15.6
Inactive	Low activity		Questionable
	I–1.3		14–16
~10	NA		7
No	No		No
93–95	45		80
Yes	No		Yes
CLomipramine	Amitriptyline	Bupropion	Mirtazapine
CLomipramine 19–37	Amitriptyline 9–46	Bupropion 14	Mirtazapine 20–40
19–37	9–46	14	20-40
19–37 Equal	9–46 Equal	14 4 variably active	20–40 10% activity
19–37 Equal 54–77	9–46 Equal 16–88	14 4 variably active 8–24	20–40 10% activity 20–40
19–37 Equal 54–77 7–14	9-46 Equal 16-88 4-10	14 4 variably active 8–24 Variable	20–40 10% activity 20–40 3–4

Table 4: CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM NEUROTRANSMITTERS: SELECTED ANTIDEPRESSANT EFFECTS^{29,30,55,57}

	Serotonin	Norepinephrine	Dopamine
Amitriptyline	++++	++++	0
Amoxapine	+++	+++	0
Bupropion	0/+	+*	++
Citalopram	++++	0	0
Desipramine	+	++++	0/+
Doxepin	+++	+	0
Fluoxetine	++++	0	0/+
Fluvoxamine	++++	0	0/+
Imipramine	+++	++	0/+
Lithium	0/++§	0	0
Maprotiline	0	++++	0
Mirtazapine	+++*	++†	0
Nortriptyline	++	+++	0
Paroxetine	++++	0/+	0/+
Protriptyline	+	++++	0
Sertraline	++++	0	0/+
Trazodone	++‡	0	0
Trimipramine	++	++	0
Venlafaxine	++++	+++	0/+
Vortioxetine	****	0	0

⁺⁺⁺⁺⁼high; +++=moderate; ++=low; +=very low; 0=none.

• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •

Table 5: SUBSTRATES, INHIBITORS, AND INDUCERS OF SOME IMPORTANT CYTOCHROME P450 (CYP) ISOFORMS^{29,58–62}

CYP % of all CYP*	* Substrates	
CYPIA2	3° amine TCAs	Olanzapine
13	(N-demethylation)	Phenacetin
	Acetaminophen	Propranolol
	Caffeine	Tacrine
	Clozapine (major)	Theophylline
	Methadone	
CYP2C9	Celecoxib	NSAIDs
20	Fluvastatin	Phenytoin (major)
(for all 2C)	Glipizide	Rosiglitazone
	Irbesartan	S-warfarin
	Losartan	Tolbutamide
CYP2CI9 [†]	3° amine TCAs	Mephobarbital
20	(N-demethylation)	Moclobemide
(for all 2C)	Citalopram (partly)	Nelfinavir
	Diazepam (partly)	Omeprazole
	(N-demethylation)	(5-hydroxylation)
	Hexobarbital	Phenytoin (minor)
	Indomethacin	R-warfarin
	Lansoprazole	S-mephenytoin

16

THE BLACK BOOK OF PSYCHOTROPIC DOSING AND MONITORING

^{*5-}HT2 and 5-HT3 antagonist.

 $^{^{\}dagger}\alpha_{2} presynaptic \ antagonist.$

^{‡5-}HT₂ antagonist.

[§]Acutely increases; chronically stabilizes.

	Inhibitors	Inducers
Cimetidine	Mibefradil	Char-grilled meat
Fluoroquinolines	Moclobemide	Omeprazole
(ciprofloxacin,	Naringenin	Tobacco
norfloxacin)	Ticlopidine	
Fluvoxamine	·	
Amiodarone	Fluvoxamine	Phenytoin
D-propoxyphene	Miconazole	Rifampin
Disulfiram	Phenylbutazone	Secobarbital
Fluconazole	Sulphaphenazole	
Fluvastatin	Zafirlukast	
Cimetidine	Ketoconazole	Rifampin
Felbamate	Moclobemide	
Fluoxetine	Omeprazole	
Fluvoxamine	Phenytoin	
Imipramine	Tranylcypromine	

Table 5: SUBSTRATES, INHIBITORS, AND INDUCERS OF SOME IMPORTANT CYTOCHROME P450 (CYP) ISOFORMS^{29,58–62} (CONT'D)

CYP % of all CYP*	Sub	strates
CYP2D6†	2° and 3° amine TCAs	Hydrocodone
2	(2, 8, 10-hydroxylation)	•
-	Alprenolol	Mirtazepine (partly)
	Amphetamine	Nortriptyline
	Beta blockers	Oxycodone
	Carvedilol	Paroxetine
	Clozapine (minor)	Perphenazine
	Codeine (hydroxylation,	•
	O-demethylation)	antiarrhythmics)
	D-fenfluramine	Risperidone
	Desipramine	Tamoxifen
	Dextromethorphan	Thioridazine
	(O-demethylation)	Timolol
	Donezepil (partly)	Tramdol
	Fluoxetine (partly)	Trazodone
	Fluphenazine	
	Haloperidol (reduction)	
CYP2EI	Acetaminophen	Isoflurane
7	Chlorzoxazone	Methoxyflurane
	Ethanol	Sevoflurane
	Halothane	
CYP3A4	3° amine TCAs	Lidocaine
30	(N-demethylation)	Loratadine
(for all 3A)	Acetaminophen	Lovastatin
	Alfentanil	Midazolam
	Alprazolam	Mirtazapine (partly)
	Amiodarone	Nefazodone
	Androgens	Nifedipine
	Atorvastatin	Nimodipine
	Buspirone	Nisoldipine
	Carbamazepine	Nitrendipine
	Cerivastatin	Omeprazole (sulfonation)
	Citalopram (partly)	Propafenone
	Codeine (demethylation)	B. C. C. Lake
	Cyclophosphamide	Protease inhibitors
	Cyclosporine	(HMG-CoA reductase
	Dexamethasone	inhibitors)
	Diazepam (partly)	Quetiapine
	(hydroxylation and	Quinidine
	N-demethylation)	Sertraline
	Diltiazem	Sildenafil

	Inhibitors	Inducers
Amiodarone	Hydroxybupropion	
Bupropion	Methadone	
Celecoxib	Moclobemide	
Cimetidine	Paroxetine	
Fluoxetine	Perphenazine	
Fluphenazine	Quinidine	
Fluvoxamine (weak)	Ritonavir	
Haloperidol \(^	Sertraline (weak)	
·	Thioridazine	

Diethyldithio-carbamate		Ethanol
(Disulfiram metabolite)		Isoniazid
Amiodarone	Ketoconazole	Barbiturates
Cimetidine	1100001102010	
	(azole antifungals)	Carbamazepine
Clarithromycin	Mibefradil	Dexamethasone
Dexamethasone	Naringenin (grapefruit)	Phénobarbital
Diltiazem	Nefazodone	Phenytoin
Erythromycin	Nelfinavir	Pioglitazone
Fluconazole	Ritonavir	Rifampin
Fluoxetine	Saquinavir	St. John's wort
Fluvoxamine	Sertraline (weak)	
Gestodene	Troleandomycin (macrolides)	
Indinavir (protease inhibitors)	Verapamil	
,		

Itraconazole

Table 5: SUBSTRATES, INHIBITORS, AND INDUCERS OF SOME IMPORTANT CYTOCHROME P450 (CYP) ISOFORMS^{29,58–62} (CONT'D)

(00.11.2)		
CYP % of all CYP*		Substrates
	Disopyramide	Simvastatin
	Donepezil (partly)	Sufentanil
	Erythromycin	Tacrolimus
	(macrolides)	Tamoxifen
	Estrogens (steroids)	Tiagabine
	Ethosuximide	Triazolam
	Felodipine	Verapamil
	Fentanyl	Vinblastine
	Ifosfamide	Vincristine
		Ziprasidone

[†]Clinically significant human polymorphism reported.

Table 6: EXAMPLES OF DRUGS* THAT MIGHT INTERACT WITH AN ANTIDEPRESSANT³¹

CYP IA2	CYP 2CI9	CYP 2C9
Acetaminophen	Barbiturates	Diclofenac
Caffeine	Citalopram	Ibuprofen
Clozapine	Diazepam .	Naproxen
Haloperidol	Mephenytoin	Omeprazole
Olanzapine	Moclobemide	Phenytoin
Phenacetin	Propranolol	Piroxicam
Phenothiazines	3° TCAs	S-Warfarin
R-warfarin (minor)		Tolbutamide
Tacrine		
3°TCAs		
Theophylline		
Thiothixene		

CYP 450=cytochrome P450; TCAs=tricyclic antidepressants; NSAIDS=nonsteroidal anti-

inflammatory drugs.

CYP=cytochrome P450; TCAs=tricyclic antidepressants.

^{*}Drug can be a substrate and/or an inhibitor of a given enzyme system.

[†]Inhibitor at 2D6, not a substrate.

^{††}Loratadine not contraindicated.

CYP=cytochrome P450; TCA=tricyclic antidepressant.

Inhibitors Inducers

CYP 3A4

Nonsedating antihistamines ††

Paclitaxel Quinidine Tamoxifen Zolpidem

Amphetamines	Androgens
Chlorpheniramine	Benzodiazepines (alprazolam,
Codeine/hydrocodone	triazolam, clonazepam, diazepam)
Desipramine other 2° TCAs	Calcium channel blockers
Dextromethorphan	Carbamazepine
Fiecainide/encainide	Corticosteroids
Haloperidol (minor)	Cyclosporine
Phenothiazines	Dapsone
Propranolol, timolol, metoprolol	Estrogens
Reduced haloperidol	HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors
Risperidone	Ketoconazole, itraconazole
Quinidine [†]	Macrolide antibiotics

CYP 2D6

Tamoxifen

Tramadol

Table 7: EXAMPLES OF DRUG INTERACTIONS^{29,30,58,61–67}

Drug	Interaction	Mechanism
TCA Interactions		
Alcohol	sedation, ataxia	CNS depression synergism
Calcium channel blockers	TCA levels	Inhibit oxidation of TCAs
Carbamazepine	TCA levels	Hepatic enzyme induction
Clmetidine	TCA levels	Inhibit TCA metabolism
Clonidine	Antagonize antihypertensive effects	Norepinephrine reuptake
Estrogen	TCA levels	Inhibit oxidation of TCAs
Guanethidine	Reverse antihypertensive effects	Block norepinephrine reuptake
Haloperidol/ phenothiazines	antipsychotic levels	CYP 2D6 inhibition
Methadone	TCA levels	Inhibit TCA metabolism
MAOIs	Serotonin syndrome	Serotonin synergism
Quinidine	TCA levels, arrhyth mia	Inhibit CYP 2D6
SSRIs	TCA levels	Inhibit various CYP systems
Stimulants	TCA levels	Inhibit TCA metabolism
SSRI Interactions		
Cyproheptadine	Reverse antidepressant effect	Serotonin antagonism
Dextromethorphan	Serotonin syndrome	Serotonin synergism
Hallucinogens	LSD flashbacks	5-HT ₂ agonism
MAOIs	Serotonin syndrome	Serotonin synergism
TCAs	TCA toxicity	Inhibit various CYP systems
Tryptophan	Serotonin syndrome	Serotonin synergism
Theophlline	Theophylline toxicity	Inhibit theophylline metabolism (fluvoxamine)
Warfarin	warfarin levels	Inhibit CYP 2C
MAOI Interaction	S	
Barbiturates	sedation	Inhibit barbiturate metabolism
Hypoglycemics	effects of hypoglycemics	MAOIs lower blood sugar
Meperidine	Serotonin syndrome	Serotonin synergism
SSRIs	Serotonin syndrome	Serotonin synergism
Succinylcholine	Prolonged apnea in surgery	Decreased cholinesterase levels
Sympathomimetics	Hypertensive crisis	indirect pressor effect
TCAs	Serotonin syndrome	Serotonin synergism
Tyramine (dietary)	Hypertensive crisis	indirect pressor effects
		•

Drug	Interaction	Mechanism
Venlafaxine Inte	ractions	
Clmetidine	venlafaxine levels	CYP P450 inhibition
Haloperidol	haloperidol levels Haloperidol elimination half-life unchanged	Unknown
MAOIs	Serotonin syndrome	Serotonin synergism
SSRIs	Potential venlafaxine levels	2D6 inhibition
	Serotonin syndrome	Serotonin synergism
Nefazodone Inte	eractions	
Glucocorticoids	steroid	Inhibit 3A4

TCA = tricyclic antidepressant; = increased; CNS = central nervous system; = decreased; CYP = cytochrome P450; MAOIs = monoamine oxidase inhibitors. = incr eased; TCAs = tricyclic antidepressants; CYP = cytochrome P450; SSRIs = selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors; LSD = lysergic acid diethylamide; MAOIs = monoamine oxidase inhibitors.

1/21/2021 4:44:17 PM

Antidepressant Monitoring

Table 8: TCA MONITORING^{29,30}

Baseline	At Therapeutic dose steady state	Annually or PRN
	(Steady state at 5 x half life	
	(t1/2) of drug)	
EKG, HR, BP	EKG, HR, BP with	EKG, BP, HR
(with orthostasis)	orthostasis	
	Serum levels	Serum levels
Serum Level	10-14 hour after last dose for	once daily dosing
Monitoring	4-6 hours after last dose of sp	lit dosing

TCA	Therapeutic	Toxic
	Serum level (µ/L)	Level (µ/L)
Amitriptyline	120–250	>500
Desipramine	115–250	>500
Nortriptyline	50-150	>300
Imipramine	180-350	>500

Table 9: INTRANASAL ESKETAMINE BP/HR MONITORING^{4,29,30}

Esketamine may cause increases in BP and Heart rate. For baseline BP >140/90 the risks of an increase in BP should be weighed against potential benefit. Food and drink discouraged for 2 hours prior to drug to reduce nausea/vomiting.

Prior to Administration 40 minutes 120 minutes BP and HR BP and HR BP and HR

BP should be stable or reducing to baseline to discharge home. Patients should not drive to or from visits and should abstain from driving until the following day.

(PDR 2020)

Table 10: BREXANALONE IV MONITORING5,6,30

Brexanalone is associated with a risk of excessive sedation and loss of consciousness in some patients.

Before Administration

Counsel the patient on signs and symptoms of excessive sedation, loss of consciousness, and the importance of immediately reporting to a healthcare provider any signs and symptoms of excessive sedation using the Patient Information Guide. Provide a copy of the material to the patient.

During treatment, every 2 hours:

 Assess the patient's health status for signs and symptoms pf excessive sedation and loss of consciousness.

During treatment:

 Assess the patient's oxygen saturation using continuous pulse oximetry.

After treatment discontinuation, prior to discharge:

Assess the patient's level of sedation

After treatment discontinuation, within 3 business days of completion date:

 Report excessive sedation or loss of consciousness to the REMS Program using the Excessive Sedation and Loss of Consciousness Adverse Event Form

25

Mood Stabilizers

Table II: MOOD STABILIZERS^{29,30,68,73}

	Lithium*
	(Cibalith-S, Eskalith, Lithane, Lithobid,
	Lithonate, Lithotabs)
Serum plasma levels	0.6-I.2 mEq/L (acute)
Usual adult daily	600-1,800 mg
dosage	•
Onset of action	5–14 days
Protein binding	Not bound to plasma proteins
ti/2	24 hours (average) with age and/or with
	decreased renal function
Metabolic	Not metabolized, primarily excreted unchanged
pathway(s)	in urine
Route(s) of	Renal
elimination	
Common drug	lithium serum concentrations (fluoxetine,†
interactions	ACE inhibitors, diuretics, NSAIDs)
	lithium serum concentrations (acetazolamide,
	osmotic diuretics, theophylline, urinary
	alkalinizers)
	Antipsychotics may increase lithium
	neurotoxicity
Common adverse	Nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, polyuria, polydipsia,
effects	tremor, hypothyroidism
Indication(s)	Manic episodes of bipolar disorder, bipolar
	disorder maintenance

^{*}Women taking a mood stabilizing agent should be given a pregnancy test at baseline and then as clinically indicated.

 $^{^\}dagger Both$ increases and decreases have been reported and lithium levels should be monitored when

[‡]Carbamazepine may decrease the efficacy of oral contraceptives through enzyme induction.

Valproic Acid*	Carbamazepine* [‡]
(Depakene, Depakote)	(Carbitrol, Tegretol)
50-100 (μ/mL)	4–12 (µg/mL)
750–4,200 mg	400–1,600 mg
5–15 days	3–15 days
90% concentration dependent with high concentration (variable due to saturation)	76%
6–16 hours (average) with age and/or decreased hepatic function	Initial range 26–65 hours; with repeated dosing, 12–17 hours
Hepatic (glucuronidation, mitochondrial boxidation, microsomal oxidation)	Hepatic: CYP 3A, 2D6
Glucuronidation, renal	Renal (72%), fecal (28%)
Interacts with drugs that are hepatically metabolized; enzyme inducers can decrease concentrations of valproic acid; valproic acid can increase	Induces metabolism of CYP 3A4- dependent drugs; decreases phenobarbital, phenytoin, sex steroids, haloperidol, valproic acid, calcium channel blockers, etc.
phenobarbital by impairment of nonrenal clearance (severe CNS depression)	(see Table 6). Valproate increases 10, 11 epoxide metabolite of carbamazepine.
GI distress, diplopia, sedation, tremor, edema, weight gain, alopecia, and thrombocytopenia	Dizziness, drowsiness, ataxia, and weight gain
Bipolar disorder, acute mania	Partial complex seizures

(and seizure disorders)

Table 12: BASELINE AND ROUTINE MONITORING PARAMETERS FOR MOOD STABILIZERS^{29,30,34–36,69,72–73}

Laboratory Parameters	Lithium*
Serum plasma concentrations	Weekly \times 4 weeks, then monthly \times 3 months, then every 3 months or as clinically indicated
Complete blood count	Baseline, monthly \times 3 months, then as clinically indicated
Blood chemistries	Baseline, then every 12 months or as clinically indicated (eg, serum creatinine, renal function, and electrolytes)
ECG (in patients 45 years or with preexisting cardiac disease)	Baseline, then every 12 months or as clinically indicated
Urinalysis	Baseline, then as clinically indicated
PT/PTT	_
Thyroid function tests	Baseiine, then every

⁽T3,T4,TSH, FTI) 12 months

"Women taking a mood stabilizing agent should be given a pregnancy test at baseline and then as clinically indicated.

Although carbamazepine is not approved by the FDA for psychiatric indications, the authors view it as one of the most important agents available for the treatment of bipolar disorder. This view is supported in the medical literature.

^{*}Carbamazepine may decrease the efficacy of oral contraceptives through enzyme induction.

ECG=electrocardiogram; PT/PTT=prthrombin time; TSH=thyroid stimulaing hormone; FTI=free thyroid index;

TSH=thyroid stimulaing hormone; FTI=free thyroid ind-FDA=Food and Drug Administration.

Carbamazepi ne*,†,‡	VaLproic Acid*
2 weeks after initiation, then every 3 months or as clinically indicated	2 weeks after initiation, then every 3 months or as clinically indicated
Baseline, then monthly $ imes$ 3 months, then as clinically indicated	Baseline, then monthly $ imes$ 6 months, then every 6 months or as clinically indicated (include differential and platelets)
Baseline, then annually as indicated	Baseline, monthly then \times 6 months, then every 6 months or as clinically indicated (eg, hepatic and renal function)
Baseline, then every 12 months	Baseline, then as clinically indicated
Baseline, then as clinically indicated	Baseline, then every 6 months or as clinically indicated
_	Baseline, then every 6 months or as clinically indicated
Baseline, then every 12 months	_

Anxiolytics/Hypnotics

Approximate

Table 13: BENZODIAZEPINE ANXIOLYTICS*29,30,40,53,54

		Approximate		
	Approved Oral	Equivalent	Half-life	
	Adult Dosage	Dosages	of Parent	
	Range (mg/day)	(mg/day)	Drug (hrs)	
Alprazolam ^{†,‡}	General:	0.5	6.3–26.9	
(Xanax)	0.75-4.0			
(ranar)	Panic			
	disorder:			
	I–10			
Chlordiazepoxide ^{†,}	15–100	10	24–48	
	15-100	10	2 4-4 8	
(Librium, Libritabs,				
Mitran)				
Clonazepam ^{†,‡}	1.5–20	0.25	18–50	
(Klonopin)				
Clorazepate ^{†,}	15-60	7.5	Prodrug	
(ClorazeCaps,				
ClorazeTabs,				
Gen-XENE,				
Tranxene)				
Diazepam [†]	4–40	5	20-80	
(Valium,				
Valrelease,				
Zetran)				
Lorazepam [†]	1–10	ı	12	
(Ativan)	. 10	•		
Oxazepam [†]	30-120	15	5.7–10.9	
(Serax)	30-120	13	5.7-10.7	
(Sei ax)				
Prozonam†	20–60	10	Prodrug	
Prazepam†	20-60	10	rrourug	
(Centrax)				

^{*}Adverse events commonly seen with the benzodiazepines include drowsiness, ataxia, confusion, fatigue, anterograde amnesia, light-headedness, and dizziness.

 $^{^\}dagger Single$ doses provide sedation and calming; chronic dosing reduces symptoms of generalized anxiety disorder.

 $^{^{\}ddagger}\text{Clonazepam}$ and alprazolam are FDA approved for PD.

 $^{^{\}rm ll} For$ alcohol detoxification and withdrawal, doses of up to 300 mg of chlordiazepoxide and 90 mg of clorazepate may be warranted.

D=relatively contraindicated; FDA = Food and Drug Administration; PD=panic disorder.

Peak Plasma Level t _{max} (hrs)	Half-life for Major Active Metabolites (hrs)	Metabolic Pathway	Pregnancy Risk Category
I-2	None	Oxidation	D
Several hours	Desmethyl- chlordiazepoxide (18) Demoxepam (14–95) Desmethyldiazepam (30–200) Oxazepam (3–21)	N-dealkylation	D (not FDA specified)
I-2	None	Reduction, hydroxylation, oxidation	D (not FDA specified)
I-2	Oxazepam (3–21) Desmethyldiazepam (30–200)	Oxidation, hydroxylation, conjugation	D (not FDA specified)
0.5–2	Desmethyldiazepam (30–200) 3-Hydroxydiazepam (5–20) Oxazepam (3–21)	Oxidation, hydroxylation, demethylation	D (not FDA specified)
2	None	Conjugation	D
3	None	Conjugation	D (not FDA specified)
6	_	Oxidation	D (not FDA specified)

Table 14: NONBENZODIAZEPINE ANXIOLYTICS^{29,30,75–77}

Drug	Brand Name	Dosage (mg)	Indications
Buspirone*	BuSpar	5–20 mg TID or	GAD
		15-30 mg BID	
Hydroxyzine [†]	Vistaril, Atarax	50-100 mg QD	Anxiety, tension

^{*}Adverse events commonly seen with buspirone include dizziness, nausea, headache, nervousness,

GAD=generalized anxiety disorder.

Table 15: BENZODIAZEPINE DRUG INTERACTONS^{29,30,61,62}

Drug	Interaction	Mechanism
Antacids	absorption and benzodiazepine	gastric pH
	levels	
Carbamazepine	benzodiazepine levels	CYP induction
Cimetidine	benzodiazepine levels	CYP inhibition
Digoxin	digoxin levels	Unknown
Erythromycin	alprazolam levels	3A4 inhibition
Ethanol	sedation/respiratory depression	CNS depression
		synergism
Nefazodone	alprazolam, triazolam levels	3A4 inhibition
Opioids	sedation, respiratory depression	CNS additive
SSRIs	diazepam, alprazolam levels	2D6 and 3A4 inhibition
Valproic acid	benzodiazepine levels	metabolism

⁼decreased; CYP=cytochrome P450; =increased; CNS=central nervous system; SSRIs=selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors.

Table 16: HYPNOTIC AGENTS^{29,30,40–53}

	Dally Adult Dosage (mg/day)	Time to Peak Plasma Level (hours)
Benzodiazepines		
Estazolam (ProSom)	0.5–2	0.5–6
Flurazepam (Dalmane)	15–30	0.5-1 4.7-100 [†]
Quazepam (Doral)	7.5–15	2 73 [†]
Temazepam (Restoril)	7.5–30	1.2–1.6
Triazolam (Halcion)	0.125-0.5	2
Nonbenzodiazepines		
Chloral hydrate (Noctec, Aquachloral Supprettes)	500–2,000	0.5–12 [†]
Zaleplon (Sonata)	5–20	I
Zolpidem (Ambien)	5–10	1.6

[†]Values given for active metabolite.

lightheadedness, and excitement.

[†]Second-agent.

Pharmacokinetic Protein Metabolic **Parameters Active Binding Pathway Metabolites** t_{1/2} (hours) (%) 10-24 Oxidation 93 None 2.3 Oxidation, N-desalkylflurazepam, 97 36-I20[†] N-dealkylation hydroxyethylflurazepam, flurazepam aldehyde 39 Oxidation N-desalkylflurazepam, >95 36-I20[†] 2-oxoquazepam 96 3.5-18.4 Conjugation None 1.5-5.5 Conjugation None 89 35-41[†] 8-11† Oxidation, Trichloroethanol reduction ī Oxidation 5-oxo-zaleplon 92 2.6 Oxidation, None 92.5 1.4-4.5 hydroxylation

Antipsychotics

Table 17: FIRST GENERATION ANTIPSYCHOTIC DOSAGES AND ADVERSE EFFECTS^{29,30,40,41,44}

	Class	Traditional Equivalents
Chlorpromazine†	Aliphatic	100
(Ormazine, Thorazine)	phenothiazine	
Thioridazine	Piperidine	100
(Mellaril)	phenothiazine	
Mesoridazine	Piperidine	50
(Serentil)	phenothiazine	
Fluphenazine	Piperazine	2
(Permitil, Prolixin)	phenothiazine	
Perphenazine	Piperazine	8
(Trilafon)	phenothiazine	
Trifluoperazine	Piperazine	5
(Stelazine)	phenothiazine	
Thiothixene (Navane)	Thioxanthene	4
Haloperidol (Haldol)	Butyrophenone	2
Loxapine (Loxitane)	Dibenzoxazepine	10
Molindone (Moban)	Dihydroindolone	10
Pimozide (Orap)	Piperidine	_
Droperidol (Inapsine)	Butyrophenone	_

Adverse Effects‡

	Extrapyramidal	Sedation
Chlorpromazine	++	+++
Thioridazine	+	+++
Mesoridazine	+	+++
Fluphenazine	++++	++
Perphenazine	+++	++
Trifluoperazine	+++	++
Thiothixene	+++	++
Haloperidol	++++	+
Loxapine	+++	++
Molindone	+++	++
Pimozide	+++	+
Droperidol	++++	+++

^{*}In elderly patients, doses should be lowered and tailored to the patient.

 $^{^{\}dagger}$ Labeling suggests higher doses may be appropriate, noting intramuscular doses up to 2,000 mg (using >1,000 mg only in severe cases).

^{*}Severity: ++++=extremely high; +++=high; ++=moderate; +=low.

Dosage* Range (mg/day) PO	Usual Maximum Dosage for Organic Mental Syndrome (mg/day)	Usual Dosage for Patients >65 Years of Age (mg/day)*
30–800	400	400
20-800	200	200
30–400	_	_
I-40	10	10
12–64	16	16
2–40	20	20
6–60	15	15
I-100	15	15
20–250	60	60
15–225	55	55
1–10		
2.5–15	_	_

Adverse Effects‡

	Anticholinergic	Orthostatic Hypotension
	+++	+++
-	++++	+++
	++++	++
	++	++
-	++	++
	++	++
	++	++
	+	+
	++	++
	++	++
	+	+
	+	++

Table 18: SECOND GENERATION ANTIPSYCHOTIC DOSAGES AND ADVERSE EFFECTS^{29,30,32,33,47,78–81}

	Starting Dose
Aripiprazole (Abilify)	2–5
Asenapine (Saphris, Secuado)	10–20
Brexpiprazole (Rexulti)	0.5-1
Cariprazine (Vraylar)	1.5
Clozapine (Clozaril)	12.5–25
lleoperidone (Fanapt)	I-2
Lumateperone (Caplyta)	42
Lurasidone (Latuda)	20-40
Olanzapine (Zyprexa)	5–10
Pimavanserin (Nuplazid)	17
Quetiapine (Seroquel)	25–50
Risperidone (Risperdal)	0.5-1
Ziprasidone (Geodon)	20-40

Adverse Effects†

	Extrapyramidal	Sedation
Aripiprazole	++	+
Asenapine	+	++
Brexpiprazole	++	+
Cariprazine	++	+
Clozapine	0	++++
lleoperidone	+	+
Lurasidone	+	++
Olanzapine	+	++++
Risperidone	+++\$	++
Quetiapine	0/+	++/++
Ziprasidone	++	++

 $[\]ensuremath{^{*}\text{In}}$ elderly patients, doses should be lowered and tailored to the patient.

[†]Severity: ++++=extremely high; +++=high; ++=moderate; +=low; 0=none. †Tolerance develops; slow dose titration is necessary.

[§]Dose-dependent extrapyramidal effects.

N/A=not available.

Dosage* Range	Recommended Dosage for Patients
(mg/day) PO	>65 Years of AGE mg/day*
10–30	2–15
10–20	5–20
2–3	I-2
3–6	1.5–3
300–900	25-100
12–24	6–12
42	42
60-120	20–60
5–20	5–10
17–34	10–17
50-750	Slower rate of dose titration, lower target dose
2–16	0.5 to start
40–160	Slow rate of dose titration, lower target dose

Adverse Effects†

Weight Gain	Anticholinergic	Orthostatic Hypotension
++	+	+
+	+	+++
+	+	+
+	+	+
++++	++++	++++‡
++	++	++
+	+	+
++++	++	+
+	+	++‡
+++	++	++
+/0	+	++

Table 19: PHARMACOKINETIC PARAMETERS AND DOSING OF DEPOT AND LONG ACTING ANTIPSYCHOTICS*29,30,82.83

First Generation Antipsychotics

Drug	Starting Dosage	Maintenance Dosage
Haloperidol	20 × oral haloperidol	10–15 × oral haloperidol
decanoate	100-450 mg/28 days	50-300 mg/28 days
Fluphenazine	1.2 × oral fluphenazine	Based on starting dose
decanoate	12.5-75 mg/7-14 days	and clinical response
Fluphenazine enanthate	12.5-100 mg/7-21 days	Based on starting dose and clinical response
enantnate		and clinical response

Second Generation Long Acting Injectable Antipsychotics		
Drug	Starting Dose	
Aripiprazole (Abilify Maintena)	400 mg/monthly	
Aripiprzole Lauroxil (Aristada)	441 mg/monthly	

Paliperidone		
Invega Sustenna 234 mg on day I, and I56 mg I week later		
Invega Trinza	273 mg	
Risperidone Consta	25 mg for 2 weeks	
Olanzapine Relprevv	150 mg for 2 weeks	

^aPatients maintained for 1 year or longer demonstrated a very long time to wash out drug (terminal observed half-life exceeding 60 days). N/A=not available.

Table 20: ANTIPARKINSONIAN AGENTS^{29,30,42,84,86}

Drug	Approximate Dose Equivalent (mg)	Dosage Range (mg/day)	Dose Forms
Antimuscarinics	(8/	(8 - 1)	
Benztropine (Cogentin)	I	1–8	T, I
Biperiden (Akineton)	2	2–8	T, I
Ethopropazine (Parsidol)	50	50-600	Т
Orphenadrine (Various)	50	50-250	T
Procyclidine (Kemadrin)	2	7.5-20	Т
Trihexyphenidyl (Artane)	2	2-15	T, C-SR, L
Antihistaminic			
Diphenhydramine (Various)	50	50-400	C,T, L, I
Dopamine Agonists			
Amantadine (Symadine,	N/A	100-400	C, L
Symmetrel)			
Ropinirole (Requip)	N/A	0.75-24*	Т
Pramipexole (Mirapex)	N/A	1.5-4.5*	Т

^{*}Maintenance dose for Parkinson's disease.

 $T=tablet; I=injection; C=capsule; SR=sustained \ release; L=liquid \ solution, \ elixir, \ or \ suspension; N/A=not \ available.$

tmax (days)	t _{1/2} Single Dose (days)	t _{1/2} Multiple Dose (days)	Time to Steady State (weeks)
4–11	21	21	12
0.3–2	6–10	14	4–8
2–3	3.5-4	N/A	3

Maintenance Dosage	T _{1/2}	Steady State
300–400 mg/monthly	30-46 days	4 months
441–882 mg/month. Or 882 mg/every	29-35 days	4 months
6 weeks or 1064 mg/every 8 weeks		
39 mg to 234 mg (average maintenance dose 117 mg)/monthly	25-49 days	4–5 months
273-829/ every three months	84-95 days	12-15 Months
25-50 mg/every 2 weeks	3-6 day	4 weeks
150–300 mg/every 2 weeks or 405 mg/every 4 weeks	30 days	3 months

Table 21: ANTIPSYCHOTIC DRUG INTERACTIONS^{29,30,61–79,86}

Interacting Medication	M echanism	Clinical Effect
Drug interaction	s assessed to have major s	everity
Anticholinergics	Pharmacodynamic effects Additive anticholinergic effect	Decreased antipsychotic effect
Barbiturates	Phenobarbital induces antipsychotic metabolism	Decreased antipsychotic concentrations
Beta-blockers	Synergistic pharmacologic effect; antipsychotic inhibits metabolism of propranolol; antipsychotic increases plasma concentrations	Severe hypotension
Carbamazepine	Induces antipsychotic metabolism	Up to 50% reduction in antipsychotic concentrations

Table 21: ANTIPSYCHOTIC DRUG INTERACTIONS^{29,30,61–79,86} (CONT'D)

Interacting Medication	Mechanism	Clinical Effect
Charcoal	Reduces GI absorption of antipsychotic and absorbs drug during enterohepatic circulation	May reduce antipsychotic effect or cause toxicity when used during overdose or for GI disturbances
Cigarette smoking	Induction of microsomal enzymes	Reduced plasma concentrations of antipsychotic agents
Epinephrine, norepinephrine	Antipsychotic antagonizes pressor effect	Hypotension
Ethanol	Additive CNS depression	Impaired psychomotor skills
Fluvoxamine	Fluvoxamine inhibits metabolism of haloperidol and clozapine	Increased concentrations of haloperidol and clozapine
Guanethidine	Antipsychotic antagonizes guanethidine neuronal uptake	Impaired antihypertensive effect
Lithium	Unknown	Rare reports of neurotoxicity
Meperidine	Additive CNS depression	Hypotension and sedation
Amphetamines, anorexiants	Decrease pharmacologic effect of amphetamine; drug-disease state interaction	Diminished weight-loss effect; amphetamines may exacerbate psychosis; treatment- refractory patients may improve
ACE inhibitors	Additive hypotensive effect	Hypotension, postural intolerance
Antacids containing aluminum	Insoluble complex in GI tract formed	Possible reduced antipsychotic effect
Antidepressants (antidepressant, nonspecific)	Decreases metabolism of antidepressant through competitive inhibition	Increased antidepressant concentration
Benzodiazepines	Increases pharmacologic effect of benzodiazepine	Respiratory depression, stupor, hypotension
Bromocriptine	Antipsychotic antagonizes dopamine receptor stimulation	Increased prolactin
Caffeinated	Form precipitate with	Possible diminished
beverages	antipsychotic solutions	antipsychotic effect
Cimetidine	Reduces antipsychotic absorption and inhibits clearance	Increased or decreased antipsychotic effect

Interacting Medication	Mechanism	Clinical Effect
Clonidine	Antipsychotic potentiates α -2-adrenergic hypotensive effect	Hypotension
Disulfiram	Impairs antipsychotic metabolism	Increased antipsychotic concentrations
Methyldopa	Unknown	Blood pressure elevations
Phenytoin	Induction of antipsychotic metabolism; increases phenytoin metabolism	Decreased antipsychotic concentrations; decreased phenytoin levels
SSRIs	Impair antipsychotic metabolism; pharmacodynamic interaction	Sudden onset of extrapyramidal symptoms
Valproic acid	Antipsychotic inhibits valproic acid metabolism	Increased valproic acid half-life and levels

 $ACE = angiotens in-converting\ enzyme;\ GI = gastrointestinal;\ CNS = central\ nervous\ system;\ SSRIs = selective\ seroton in\ reuptake\ inhibitors.$

Table 22: ACUTE NEUROLOGIC SIDE EFFECTS OF ANTIPSYCHOTIC MEDICATIONS^{29,30,79,86,87}

Reaction	Clinical Features	Approximate Onset	Treatment
Acute dystonia	Spasm of tongue, throat, face, jaw, eyes, neck, or back muscles	<i td="" week<=""><td>Injectable benztropine or diphenhydramine, followed by oral anticholinergics or benzodiazepines</td></i>	Injectable benztropine or diphenhydramine, followed by oral anticholinergics or benzodiazepines
Akathisia	Motor restlessness, inability to stay still	<i week–<br="">2 weeks</i>	If possible, reduce dose of antipsychotic; add beta-blockers, benzodiazepines, or anticholinergics
Pseudoparkinsonism	Bradykinesia, rigidity, resting tremor, rabbit syndrome, sialorrhea, flat affect	~I week	Add anticholinergics or amantadine; diphenhydramine and lorazepam may also be effective

Table 23: PHARMACOKINETIC PARAMETERS OF SELECTED ORAL ANTIPSYCHOTICS^{29,30,40,41,79,84–88}

	Bioavailability (%)	Protein Binding (%)	vd (L/kg)*	
Chlorpromazine	10–33	90–95	7–20	
Clozapine		95	4–66	
Haloperidol	40–70	92	10–35	
Fluphenazine	10–50	90–95	_	
Olanzapine	-60	93	10-20	
Perphenazine	25	_	10-35	
Quetiapine	100	83	6–14	
Risperidone	70	90	_	
Thioridazine	25–33	99	_	
Thiothixene	50	90–95	_	

^{*}Range given includes mean +/- standard deviation.

Table 24: APA/ADA RECOMMENDATIONS FOR PATIENTS WHO ARE TAKING ANTIPSYCHOTICS*

Prior to starting an antipsychotic

Screen for personal of family history of diabetes, high blood pressure,

heart disease, high cholesterol

Weight and height (BMI •25)

Waist circumference (>40 inches in males, 35 inches in females)

Blood pressure >130/85

Fasting glucose >110

Fasting cholesterol (HDL <40, total >200)

Fasting triglyceride levels (>175)

Reassess weight at weeks 4, 8, 12 and quarterly thereafter. Weight gain >5% consider switching antipsychotics.

Reassess glucose, lipids and blood pressure 3 months after starting the antipsychotic. Thereafter, check BP annually or as needed. Lipids checked at 5 year intervals or as needed.

Assessing EPS symptoms (place after table 19) Extrapyramidal symptoms may be checked at every visit or every 6 months.

[†]Data inconclusive regarding therapeutic range for these drugs.

[‡]Optimal concentration for response not emcompassing neuroleptic threshold (3–5 ng/mL).

[§]Trough concentration, predose.

^{**}Peak concentration 2-3 hours postdose.

^{*}Diabetes Care 2004; 27(2): 596-601.

Plasma t _{I/2} (hours)	Active Metabolites	Therapeutic plasma concentration (ng/ml)
8–35	7-hydroxy	100-300 [†]
4–66	Desmethyl	350
12–36	Reduced haloperidol	3.0–30
		5-12 [‡]
14–24	Hydroxy	0.2–3
21–54	<u> </u>	9–20 [†]
8–21	None known	_
-6	7-hydroxy	_
	7-hydroxy-N-dealkylated	
3–20	9-hydroxy	_
9–30	Mesoridazine,	200-800 [†]
	sulphoridazine	
34	None known	1.0-5.0*§
		10-30***

Table 25: VMAT INHIBITORS FOR THE TREATMENT OF TARDIVE DYSKINESIA^{19,20,29,30}

VMAT2 Inhibitor	Starting dose	Therapeutic Dose
Valbenazine (Ingrezza)	40 mg	40-80 mg
Deutetrabenzaine (Austedo)	6 mg bid	12–24 mg bid

ADA/APA Monitoring protocol for patients on Second Generation Antipsychotics (SGA)s

	Baseline	4 weeks	8 weeks	
Personal/family history	X			
Weight (BMI)	X	X	X	
Waist circumference	X			
Blood pressure	X			
Fasting plasma glucose	X			
Fasting lipid profile	X			

12 weeks	Quarterly	Annually ×	Every 5 years
X	X		
		X	
Х		X	
X		X	
X			X

Clozapine Monitoring

Table 26: CLOZAPINE MONITORING BY ACUTE NEUTROPHIL COUNT (ANC) LEVEL FOR THE GENERAL POPULATION. (FOR PATIENTS WITH BENIGN ETHNIC NEUTROPENIA, PLEASE SEE CLOZAPINE REMS)

ANC Level	Recommendation	
Normal Range for a New Patient (ANC ≥1500/µL)	 Initiate treatment If treatment interrupted: <30 days, continue monitoring as before ≥30 days, monitor as if new patient (Patient interrupted treatment for any reason other than low ANC) 	
Mild Neutropenia (1000 to 1499/μL)*	Continue treatment	
Moderate Neutropenia (500 to 999/µL)*	 Hematology consultation Suspend treatment for suspected clozapine induced neutropenia Resume treatment once ANC normalizes to ≥1000/μL 	
Severe Neutropenia (less than 500/µL)*	 Hematology consultation Suspend treatment for suspected clozapine induced neutropenia Consider discontinuing unless the benefits clearly outweigh the risks 	

^{*}Confirm all initial reports of ANC less than 1500/ μ L (ANC < 1000/ μ L for BEN patients) with a repeat ANC measurement within 24 hours.

Table 27: ANOREXIANTS^{29,30,64–71,89–91}

Agent	dosage range (mg/day)	Indication
Amphetamine (Biphetamine)	5–40	Obesity
Naltrexone + Bupropion 8/90 mg	I–2 tablets BID	Obesity
(Contrave)		
Methamphetamine (Desoxyn)	10–15	Obesity
Orlistat (Xenical)	120 TID with meals	Obesity
Phendimetrazine (various)	70-105	Obesity
Phentermine (Adipex-P, various)	18.75-37.5	Obesity
Phentermine + Topiramate 3.75/23 mg (Qsmia)	I–2 tablets Daily	Obesity

 $Source: Adapted from \ {\it Clozapine and the Risk of Neutropenia: An Overview for Healthcare Providers, 2014 (www.clozapinerems.com).}$

- Weekly from initiation to 6 months
- Every 2 weeks from 6 to 12 months
- · Monthly after 12 months
- Three times weekly until ANC ≥1500/μL
- Once ANC ≥1500/µL, return to patient's last normal range ANC monitoring interval
- Daily until ANC ≥1000/µL, then
- Three times weekly until ANC ≥1500/μL
- Once ANC ≥I500/µL, check ANC weekly for 4 weeks, then monthly as appropriate
- Daily until ANC ≥1000/µL
- Three times weekly until ANC ≥1500/µL
- If patient is restarted on clozapine, monitor as a new patient or as needed

Table 28: PSYCHOSTIMULANTS^{29,30,92}

	Dosage Range	
Agent	(mg/day)	Indication
Dextroamphetamine	5-40	ADHD
(Dexedrine)	5–60	Narcolepsy
Dextroamphetamine +	5-40	ADHD
amphetamine (Adderall)	5-60	Narcolepsy
Methamphetamine (Desoxyn)	5-25*	ADHD
Methylphenidate (Ritalin,	10-40	ADHD
Ritalin LA, Aptenso XR)	10-60	Narcolepsy
Methylphenidate HCI (Concerta)	18-54	ADHD
Modafinil (Provigil)	200-400	Narcolepsy, idiopathic
		hypersomnia
Armodafinil (Nuvigil)	150-250	
Lisdexamfetamine (Vyvanse)	30–70	ADHD, Binge Eating

ADHD=attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *20–25 mg is effective dosage range; can be titrated up from 5 mg.

THE BLACK BOOK OF PSYCHOTROPIC DOSING AND MONITORING

47

Table 29: DRUGS FOR ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE^{29,30,38,40,93,97} (CHOLINESTERASE INHIBITORS)

Drug	Dosage	Peak Plasma	Elimination Half-life
Donepezil (Aricept)	5–10 mg/day	3–4 hours	70 hours
Galantamine (Reminyl)	16-32 mg/day	I hour	7 hours
Rivastigmine (Exelon)	6-12 mg/day	1.4-2.6 hours	1.5–3 hours

CYP=cytochrome P450.

Table 30: ADVERSE EFFECTS OF CHOLINESTERASE INHIBITORS^{29,30,37,39,93–96,98,99}

Symptom	Donepezil	Galantamine	Rivastigmine	Tacrine
GI				
Nausea, vomiting	+	++++	++	+++
Weight loss	+	+	++	+
			(dose dependent)	
LFTs rise	_	_	_	+++
CNS				
Insomnia	+/_	+	+/_	+
Fatigue	+/_	+	+/_	+/_
Depression	+/_	+	+/_	+/_
Miscellaneo	us			
Syncope	+/_	+	+	+/_
Increased urination	+/_	+	+/-	+/_
Rhinitis	+/_	+	-	_

 $++++= high; +++= moderate; ++= low; += very \ low; -= none. \ GI= gastrointestinal; \ LFTs= liver \ function \ tests; CNS= central \ nervous \ system.$

Steady		
State	Protein Binding	Metabolism
15 days	96%	2D6, 3A3/4
-	18%	2D6, 3A4
24-48 days	40%	Not CYP dependent

References

- Greenblatt DJ, Harmatz JS, Shader RI. Update on Psychotropic Drug Prescribing in the United States: 2014–2015. J Clin Psychopharmacol. 2018;38(1):1–4. doi: 10.1097/JCP.0000000000000831. PMID: 29215384
- Daly EJ, Singh JB, Fedgchin M, Cooper K, Lim P, Shelton RC, Thase ME, Winokur A, Van Nueten L, Manji H, Drevets WC. Efficacy and Safety of Intranasal Esketamine Adjunctive to Oral Antidepressant Therapy in Treatment-Resistant Depression: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA Psychiatry*. 2018;75(2):139–148. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2017.3739. PMID: 29282469; PMCID: PMC5838571.
- Fedgchin M, Trivedi M, Daly EJ, Melkote R, Lane R, Lim P, Vitagliano D, Blier P, Fava M, Liebowitz M, Ravindran A, Gaillard R, Ameele HVD, Preskorn S, Manji H, Hough D, Drevets WC, Singh JB. Efficacy and Safety of Fixed-Dose Esketamine Nasal Spray Combined With a New Oral Antidepressant in Treatment-Resistant Depression: Results of a Randomized, Double-Blind, Active-Controlled Study (TRANSFORM-1). Int J Neuropsychopharmacol. 2019;22(10):616–630. doi: 10.1093/ijnp/pyz039. PMID: 31290965; PMCID: PMC6822141.
- Tibensky BN, de Léséleuc L, Perras C, Picheca L. Esketamine for Treatment-Resistant Depression. 2019 Apr 1. In: CADTH Issues in Emerging Health Technologies. Ottawa (ON): Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health; 2016–. 176. PMID: 31211546.
- Faden J, Citrome L. Intravenous brexanolone for postpartum depression: what it is, how well does it work, and will it be used? *Ther Adv Psychopharmacol*. 2020;10:2045125320968658. doi: 10.1177/2045125320968658. PMID: 33224470; PMCID: PMC7656877.
- Leader LD, O'Connell M, VandenBerg A. Brexanolone for Postpartum Depression: Clinical Evidence and Practical Considerations. *Pharmacotherapy*. 2019;39(11):1105–1112. doi: 10.1002/phar.2331. Epub 2019 Oct 7. PMID: 31514247.
- Zheng W, Cai DB, Zheng W, Sim K, Ungvari GS, Peng XJ, Ning YP, Wang G, Xiang YT. Brexanolone for postpartum depression: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled studies. *Psychiatry Res.* 2019;279:83–89. doi: 10.1016/j. psychres.2019.07.006. Epub 2019 Jul 4. PMID: 31323375.
- Garnock-Jones KP. Cariprazine: A Review in Schizophrenia. CNS Drugs. 2017;31(6):513–525. doi: 10.1007/s40263-017-0442-z. PMID: 28560619.
- Saraf G, Pinto JV, Yatham LN. Efficacy and safety of cariprazine in the treatment of bipolar disorder. Expert Opin Pharmacother. 2019;20(17):2063

 2072. doi: 10.1080/14656566.2019.1660319. Epub 2019 Oct 23. PMID: 31644326.
- Corponi F, Fabbri C, Bitter I, Montgomery S, Vieta E, Kasper S, Pallanti S, Serretti A. Novel antipsychotics specificity profile: A clinically oriented review of lurasidone, brexpiprazole, cariprazine and lumateperone. *Eur Neuropsychophar-macol.* 2019;29(9):971–985. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2019.06.008. Epub 2019 Jun 27. PMID: 31255396.
- Blair HA. Lumateperone: First Approval. Drugs. 2020;80(4):417–423. doi: 10.1007/s40265-020-01271-6. PMID: 32060882.
- Rahman T. Should Trackable Pill Technologies Be Used to Facilitate Adherence Among Patients Without Insight? AMA J Ethics. 2019;21(4):E332–E336. doi: 10.1001/amajethics.2019.332. PMID: 31012420
- Zhou M, Derakhshanian S, Rath A, Bertrand S, DeGraw C, Barlow R, Menard A, Kaye AM, Hasoon J, Cornett EM, Kaye AD, Viswanath O, Urits I. Asenapine Transdermal Patch for the Management of Schizophrenia. *Psychopharmacol Bull*. 2020;50(4):60–82. PMID: 33012873; PMCID: PMC7511145.

50

- Markovic M, Gallipani A, Patel KH, Maroney M. Brexpiprazole. Ann Pharmacother. 2017;51(4):315–322. doi: 10.1177/1060028016678262. Epub 2016 Dec 15. PMID: 28228056.
- Daghistani N, Rey JA. Invega Trinza: The First Four-Times-a-Year, Long-Acting Injectable Antipsychotic Agent. P T. 2016;41(4):222–227. PMID: 27069340; PMCID: PMC4811251.
- Frampton JE. Aripiprazole Lauroxil: A Review in Schizophrenia. *Drugs*. 2017;77(18):2049–2056. doi: 10.1007/s40265-017-0848-4. PMID: 29177572.
- Jann MW, Penzak SR. Long-Acting Injectable Second-Generation Antipsychotics: An Update and Comparison Between Agents. CNS Drugs. 2018;32(3):241–257. doi: 10.1007/s40263-018-0508-6. Erratum in: CNS Drugs. 2018;32(6):603. PMID: 29569082.
- Meyer JM. Converting oral to long-acting injectable antipsychotics: a guide for the perplexed. CNS Spectr. 2017;22(S1):14–28. doi: 10.1017/ S1092852917000840. Erratum in: CNS Spectr. 2018;23(2):186. PMID: 29350127.
- Tarakad A, Jimenez-Shahed J. VMAT2 Inhibitors in Neuropsychiatric Disorders. CNS Drugs. 2018;32(12):1131–1144. doi: 10.1007/s40263-018-0580-y. PMID: 30306450.
- Peckham AM, Nicewonder JA. VMAT2 Inhibitors for Tardive Dyskinesia-Practice Implications. J Pharm Pract. 2019;32(4):450–457. doi: 10.1177/0897190018756512. Epub 2018 Feb 18. PMID: 29455579.
- Han Y, Yuan K, Zheng Y, Lu L. Orexin Receptor Antagonists as Emerging Treatments for Psychiatric Disorders. *Neurosci Bull*. 2020;36(4):432–448. doi: 10.1007/s12264-019-00447-9. Epub 2019 Nov 28. PMID: 31782044; PMCID: PMC7142186.
- Coleman PJ, Gotter AL, Herring WJ, Winrow CJ, Renger JJ. The Discovery of Suvorexant, the First Orexin Receptor Drug for Insomnia. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol*. 2017;57:509–533. doi: 10.1146/annurev-pharmtox-010716-104837. PMID: 27860547.
- Murphy P, Moline M, Mayleben D, Rosenberg R, Zammit G, Pinner K, Dhadda S, Hong Q, Giorgi L, Satlin A. Lemborexant, A Dual Orexin Receptor Antagonist (DORA) for the Treatment of Insomnia Disorder: Results From a Bayesian, Adaptive, Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Study. J Clin Sleep Med. 2017;13(11):1289-1299. doi: 10.5664/jcsm.6800. PMID: 29065953; PMCID: PMC5656478.
- Rosenberg R, Murphy P, Zammit G, Mayleben D, Kumar D, Dhadda S, Filippov G, LoPresti A, Moline M. Comparison of Lemborexant With Placebo and Zolpidem Tartrate Extended Release for the Treatment of Older Adults With Insomnia Disorder: A Phase 3 Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Netw Open. 2019;2(12):e1918254. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.18254. Erratum in: JAMA Netw.
- Rush AJ, Trivedi MH, Ibrahim HM, Carmody TJ, Arnow B, Klein DN, Markowitz JC, Ninan PT, Kornstein S, Manber R, Thase ME, Kocsis JH, Keller MB. The 16-Item Quick Inventory of Depressive Symptomatology (QIDS), clinician rating (QIDS-C), and self-report (QIDS-SR): a psychometric evaluation in patients with chronic major depression. *Biol Psychiatry*. 2003;54(5):573–583. doi: 10.1016/s0006-3223(02)01866-8. Erratum in: Biol Psychiatry. 2003;54(5):585. PMID: 12946886.
- Overall JE, Gorham DR. The Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale. Psychological Reports. 1962;10:199–812.

- Guy W, ed. ECDEU Assessment Manual for Psychopharmacology: Publication ADM 76–338. Washington, DC: US Department of Health, Education, and Welfare; 1976.
- Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JB, Löwe B. A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: the GAD-7. Arch Intern Med. 2006;166(10):1092–1097. doi: 10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092. PMID: 16717171.
- Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB. The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. J Gen Intern Med. 2001;16(9):606–613. doi: 10.1046/j.1525– 1497.2001.016009606.x. PMID: 11556941; PMCID: PMC1495268.
- 30. Physicians' desk reference. (2020). Montvale, NJ: PDR Network.
- Reilly JG, Ayis SA, Ferrier IN, Jones SJ, Thomas SH. QTc-interval abnormalities and psychotropic drug therapy in psychiatric patient. *Lancet*. 2000;355:1048–1052.
- Daniel DG, Zimbroff DL, Potkin SG, Reeves KR, Harrigan EP, Lakshiminarayanan M, and the Ziprasidone Study Group. Ziprasidone 80 mg/day and 160 mg/day in the acute exacerbation of schizophrenia and schizoaffective disorder: a 6-week placebo-controlled trial. Neuropsychopharmacology. 1999;20(5):491–505.
- Seeger TF, Seymour PA, Schmidt AW, et al. Ziprasidone (CP-88,059): a new antipsychotic with combined dopamine and serotonin receptor antagonist activity. J Pharmocol Exp Ther. 1995;275(1):101–113.
- Emrich HM, Dose M, von Zerssen D. The use of sodium valproate, carbamazepine and oxcarbazepine in patients with affective disorders. J Affect Disord. 1985;8:243–250.
- Cabrera J, Albrecht J, Müller-Oerlinghausen B. Combined preventive treatment of recurrent manic-depressive disease with lithium and carbamazepine or oxcarbazepine. Nervenarzt. 1987;58:245

 –249.
- 36. Shorvon S. Oxcarbazepine: a review [editorial]. Seizure. 2000;9:75-79.
- 37. Sim A. Rivastigmine: a review. *Hosp Med.* 1999;60(10):731–735.
- Forette F, Anand R, Gharabawi G. A phase II study in patients with Alzheimer's disease to assess the preliminary efficacy and maximum tolerated dose of rivastigmine (Exelon). Eur J Neurol. 1999;6(4):423–429.
- 39. Galantimine (Reminyl) package insert. Janssen, 2001.
- Physicians' Desk Reference. 55th ed. Montvale, NJ: Medical Economics Co.; 2001.
- Fuller MA, Sajatovic A. Psychotropic Drug Information Handbook. Hudson, OH: Lexi-Comp, Inc.; 2001.
- Olin BR, Hebel SK, Dombek CE, eds. Facts and Comparisons. St Louis, Mo: Facts and Comparisons; 1997.
- American Hospital Formulary Service. AHFS Drug Information. Bethesda, MD: American Society of Health-System Pharmacists; 2000.
- 44. Droperidol (Inapsine) package insert. Taylor, 1998.
- 45. Fluoxetine (Sarafem) package insert. Eli Lilly, 2000.
- 46. Isocarboxazid (Marplan) package insert. Oxford, 1999.
- Ziprasidone (Geodon) package insert. Pfizer, 2001.
- DeVane CL, Javecke CR. Cyclic antidepressants. In: Applied Pharmacokinetics; Principles of Therapeutic Drug Monitoring. Vancouver, BC: Applied Therapeutics; 1992:1–47.
- Toney G, Ereshefsky L. Cyclic antidepressants. In: Therapeutic Drug Monitoring. Norwalk, Conn. Appleton and Lange; 1995:411

 –449.
- Pollock B, Perel JM. Tricyclic antidepressants: contemporary issues for therapeutic practice. Can J Psychiatry. 1989;34(6):609–617.

- Stern R, Marks IM, Mawson D, Luscombe DK. Clomipramine and exposure for compulsive rituals: II. Plasma levels, side effects and outcome. Br J Psychiatry. 1980;136:161–166.
- Nelson J, Jatlow PI, Quinlan DM, Bowers Jr MB. Desipramine plasma concentration and antidepressant response. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1982;12:1419–1422.
- Glassman AH, Perel JM, Shostak M, Kantor SJ, Fleiss JL. Clinical implications of imipramine plasma levels for depressive illness. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 1977;34:197–204.
- APA Task Force. Tricyclic antidepressants—blood level measurements and clinical outcome: an APA Task Force report. Task Force on the Use of Laboratory Tests in Psychiatry. Am J Psychiatry. 1985;142(2):155–162. Review.
- Baumann P. Pharmacology and pharmacokinetics of citalopram and other SSRIs. Int Clin Psychopharmacol. 1996;11(suppl 1):5–11.
- DeVane CL. Pharmacogenetics and drug metabolism of newer antidepressant agents. J Clin Psychiatry. 1994;55(12 suppl):38–45: discussion 46–47. Review.
- DeVane CL. Differential pharmacology of newer antidepressants. J Clin Psychiatry. 1998;59(suppl 20):85–93.
 Nameoff C. DeVane CL. Pallack BC. Navar antidepressants and the cities.
- Nemeroff C, DeVane CL, Pollock BG. Newer antidepressants and the cytochrome P450 system. Am J Psychiatry. 1996;153(3):311–320.
- Ketter TA, Flockhart DA, Post RM, et al. The emerging role of cytochrome P450 3A in psychopharmacology. J Clin Psychopharmacol. 1995;15(6):387–398. Review.
- Shimada T, Yamazaki H, Mimura M, Inui Y, Guengerich FP. Interindividual variations in human liver cytochrome P-450 enzymes involved in the oxidation of drugs, carcinogens and toxic chemicals: studies with liver microsomes of 30 Japanese and 30 Caucasians. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 1994;270(1):414–423.
- Caroulo D, Shader RI, Greenblatt DJ, Creelman W, eds. Drug Interactions in Psychiatry. 2nd ed. Baltimore, Md: Williams and Wilkins; 1994.
- Michalets EL. Update: Clinically significant cytochrome P-450 drug interactions. *Pharmacotherapy*. 1998;18(1):84–112.
- 63. Shen WW. Cytochrome P450 monooxygenases and interactions of psychotropic drugs: a five-year update. *Int J Psychiatry Med.* 1995;25(3):277–290.
 64. Ereshefsky L. Pharmacokinetics and drug interactions: update for new antipsy-
- chotics. J Clin Psychiatry. 1996:57(suppl 11):12–25.
 65. Finley PR, Warner MD, Peabody CA. Clinical relevane of drug interactions
- Finley PK, Warner MD, Peabody CA. Clinical relevane of drug interactions with lithium. *Clin Pharmacokinetics*. 1995;29(3):172–191.
 DeVane CL, Nemeroff CB. Psychotropic drug interactions. *Primary Psychiatry*.
- 2000;7(10):40–68.
 67. DeVane CL, Markowitz JS. Avoiding psychotropic drug interactions in the car-
- Devane CL, Markowitz JS. Avoiding psychotropic drug interactions in the cardiovascular patient. *Bull Menninger Clinic*. 2000;64(1):49–59.
 Jefferson J, Griest JH, Ackerman DL, Carroll JA, eds. Lithium: an overview. In:
- Lithium Encyclopedia for Clinical Practice. Washington, DC; American Psychiatric Press; 1987:13–21.
- Bowden C, Brugger AM, Swann AC, et al. Efficacy of diavalproex vs lithium and placebo in the treatment of mania. JAMA. 1994;271(12):918–924.
- Ketter TA, Post RM. Clinical pharmacology and pharmacokinetics of carbamazepine. In: Anticonvulsants in Mood Disorders. Joffe RT, Calabrese JR, eds. New York, NY: Marcel Dekker; 1994:147–188.
- Pellock JM, Willmore LJ. A rational guide to routine blood monitoring in patients receiving antiepileptic drugs. Neurolog. 1991;41(7):961–964.
- Seymour JF. Carbamazepine overdose: features of 33 cases. Drug Saf. 1993; 8(1):81–88.

- Schatzberg A, Cole J, DeBattista C. Mood stabilizers. In: Manual of Clincal Psychopharmacology. Washington, D.C.: American Psychiatric Press; 1997:181–222.
- Kirkwood CK, Hayes P. Anxiety disorders. In: Pharmacotherapy A Pathopsysiologic Approach. New York, NY: Elsevier Science Publishing; 1989:1443–1462.
- Lader M, Scotto JC. A multicentre double-blind comparison of hydroxyzine, buspirone and placebo in patients with generalized anxiety disorder. *Psychophar-macology*. 1998;139:402

 –406.
- Ferreri M, Hantouche EG. Recent clinical trials of hydroxyzine in generalized anxiety disorder. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 1998;98(suppl 393):102–108.
- Kerry RJ, McDermott CM. Medazepam compared with amylobarbitone in treatment of anxiety. Br Med J. 1971;1(741):151–152.
- Owens MJ, Risch SC. Atypical antipsychotics. In: Schatzberg AF, Nemeroff CB, eds. *Textbook of Psychopharmacology*. 2nd ed. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press; 1998:323–348.
- Ereshefsky L, Overman GP, Karp JK. Current psychotropic dosing and monitoring guidelines. Primary Psychiatry. 1996;7:21–45.
- Schatzberg AF, Cole J, DeBattista C. Antipsychotic drugs. In: Manual of Clinical Psychopharmacology. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press; 1998:113–180.
- Prakash C, Kamel A, Anderson W, Howard H. Metabolism and excretion of the novel antipsychotic drug ziprasidone in rats after oral administration of a mixture of 14C- and 3H-labeled ziprasidone. *Drug Metab Dispos*. 1997;25(2):206–218.
- Ereshefsky L, Richards AL. Psychoses. In: Koda-Kimble MA, Yound LY, eds. *Applied Therapeutics: The Clinical Use of Drugs.* 5th ed. Vancouver, Wash: Applied Therapeutics; 1992:1–43.
- Ereshefsky L, Toney G, Saklad SR, Anderson C, Seidel D. A loading-dose strategy for converting from oral to depot neuroleptic. *Hosp Community Psychiatry*. 1993;44(12):1155–1161.
- Gimenez-Roldan S. Ropinirol: a new dopamine agonist in the treatment of Parkinson's disease. J Neurolgia. 1997;12(8):354

 –361.
- Bennett JP Jr., Piercey MF. Pramipexole—a new dopamine agonist for the treatment of Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Sci. 1999;163:25–31.
- Crismon ML, Dorson PG. Schizophrenia. In: DiPiro JT, Talbert RL, Hayes PE, et al, eds. *Pharmacotherapy*. East Norwalk, Conn. Appleton and Lange; 1993:1020–1043.
- Tarsy D. Movement disorders with neuroleptic drug treatment. Symposium on clinical psychopharmacology. J Psychiatr Clin North Am. 1984;7(3):453–471.
- DeBattista C, Schatzberg AF. Current psychotropic dosing and monitoring guidelines. Primary Psychiatry. 1999;6(3):65–102.
- McNeely W, Benfield P. Orlistat. Drugs. 1998;56(2):241–249; discussion 250. Review.
- McNeely W, Goa KL. Sibutramine. A review of its contribution to the management of obesity. *Drugs*. 1998;56(6):1093–1124.
- Kolanowski J. A risk-benefit assessment of anti-obesity drugs. Drug Saf. 1999;20(2):119–131.
- Ferraro L, Antonelli T, O'Connor WT, Tanganelli S, Rambert FA, Fuxe K. Modafinil: an antinarcoleptic drug with a different neurochemical profile to d-amphetamine and dopamine uptake blockers. *Biol Psychiatry*. 1997;42:1181–1183.
- Giacobini E. Invited review: cholinesterase inhibitors for Alzheimer's disease therapy: from tacrine to future applications. Neurochem Int. 1998;32:413

 –419.

- Wagstaff AJ, McTavish D. Tacrine. A review of its pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic properties, and therapeutic efficacy in Alzheimer's disease. *Drugs Aging*. 1995;4(6):510–540.
- Rogers SL, Friedhoff LT. The efficacy and safety of donepezil in patients with Alzheimer's disease: results of a US multicentre, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Dementia*. 1996;7:293–303.
- Doody RS. Clinical profile of donepezil in the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. Gerontology. 1999;45(suppl 1):23–32.
- Grossberg GT, Stahelin HB, Messina JC, Anand R, Veach J. Lack of adverse pharmacodynamic drug interactions with rivastigmine and twenty-two classes of medications. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*. 2000;15:242–247.
- Bentham P, Gray R, Sellwood E, Raftery J. Effectiveness of rivastigmine in Alzheimer's disease. Improvements in functional ability remain unestablished [letter]. BMJ. 1999;319:640–641.
- McKeith IG, Grace JB, Walker Z, et al. Rivastigmine in the treatment of dementia with lewy bodies: preliminary findings from an open trial. *Int J Geri*atr Psychiatry. 2000;15:387–392.
- Young RC, Biggs JT, Ziegler VE, Meyer DA. A rating scale for mania: reliability, validity and sensitivity. Br J Psychiatry. 1978;133:429–435.

Appendix

Name or ID:

The Quick Inventory of Depressive Symptomatology (16-Item) (Self-Report) (QIDS-SR $_{16}$) 25

	ring the past seven days	During the past seven days		
	alling Asleep: I never take longer than 30 minutes to fall	5. Feeling Sad: □ 0 I do not feel sad.		
	asleep.			
1	I take at least 30 minutes to fall asleep, less than half the time.	☐ 1 I feel sad less than half the time. ☐ 2 I feel sad more than half the time.		
2	I take at least 30 minutes to fall asleep,	☐ 3 I feel sad nearly all of the time.		
3	more than half the time. I take more than 60 minutes to fall asleep, more than half the time.	Please complete either 6 or 7 (not both)		
		6. Decreased Appetite:		
	eep During the Night	☐ 0 There is no change in my usual appetite.		
□ 0 □ 1	I do not wake up at night. I have a restless, light sleep with a few brief	☐ 1 I eat somewhat less often or lesser amount of food than usual.		
_ 1	awakenings each night.	☐ 2 I eat much less than usual and only with		
2	I wake up at least once a night, but I go back to sleep easily.	personal effort.		
□ 3	I awaken more than once a night and stay awake for 20 minutes or more, more than	☐ 3 I rarely eat within a 24-hour period, and only with extreme personal effort or when others persuade me to eat.		
	half the time.	- OR -		
. w	aking Up Too Early:	7. Increased Appetite:		
	Most of the time, I awaken no more than	□ 0 There is no change from my usual appetit		
7 1	30 minutes before I need to get up. More than half the time, I awaken more than	☐ 1 I feel a need to eat more frequently than usual.		
_ 1	30 minutes before I need to get up.	2 I regularly eat more often and/or greater		
□ 2	I almost always awaken at least one hour or so before I need to, but I go back to sleep eventually.	amounts of food than usual. 3 I feel driven to overeat both at mealtime		
7.2	,	and between meals.		
_ 3	I awaken at least one hour before I need to, and can't go back to sleep.	Please complete either 8 or 9		
		(not both)		
	eeping Too Much:	8. Decreased Weight (Within the Last		
0	I sleep no longer than 7–8 hours/night, without napping during the day.	Two Weeks):		
1	I sleep no longer than 10 hours in a 24-hour period including naps.	□ 0 I have not had a change in my weight. □ 1 I feel as if I have had a slight weight loss.		
□ 2	I sleep no longer than 12 hours in a 24-hour	☐ 2 I have lost 2 pounds or more.		
7.0	period including naps.	☐ 3 I have lost 5 pounds or more.		
	I sleep longer than 12 hours in a 24-hour period including naps.	- OR -		
		9. Increased Weight (Within the Last Two Weeks):		
		□ 0 I have not had a change in my weight.		
		☐ 1 I feel as if I have had a slight weight gain.		
		☐ 2 I have gained 2 pounds or more.		
		☐ 3 I have gained 5 pounds or more.		

56

The Quick Inventory of Depressive Symptomatology (16-Item) (Self-Report) (QIDS-SR₁₆)²⁵

During the past seven days...

10. Concentration / Decision Making:

- There is no change in my usual capacity to concentrate or make decisions.
- ☐ 1 I occasionally feel indecisive or find that my
- ☐ 2 Most of the time, I struggle to focus my attention or to make decisions.
- I cannot concentrate well enough to read or cannot make even minor decisions.

11. View of Myself:

- I see myself as equally worthwhile and deserving as other people.
- $\hfill\square$ 1 \hfill I am more self-blaming than usual.
- I largely believe that I cause problems for others.
- I think almost constantly about major and minor defects in myself.

12. Thoughts of Death or Suicide:

- □ 0 I do not think of suicide or death.
- I feel that life is empty or wonder if it's worth living.
- \square 2 I think of suicide or death several times a week for several minutes.
- I think of suicide or death several times a day in some detail, or I have made specific plans for suicide or have actually tried to take my life.

13. General Interest

- \square 0 There is no change from usual in how interested I am in other people or activities.
- I notice that I am less interested in people or activities.
- I find I have interest in only one or two of my formerly pursued activities.
- I have virtually no interest in formerly pursued activities.

During the past seven days...

14. Energy Level:

- There is no change in my usual level of energy.
- \square 1 I get tired more easily than usual.
- I have to make a big effort to start or finish my usual daily activities (for example, shopping, homework, cooking, or going to work).
- I really cannot carry out most of my usual daily activities because I just don't have the energy.

15. Feeling Slowed Down:

- I think, speak, and move at my usual rate of speed.
- I find that my thinking is slowed down or my voice sounds dull or flat.
- It takes me several seconds to respond to most questions and I'm sure my thinking is slowed.
- I am often unable to respond to questions without extreme effort.

16. Feeling Restless:

- ☐ 0 I do not feel restless.
- \square 1 I'm often fidgety, wringing my hands, or need to shift how I am sitting.
- I have impulses to move about and am quite restless.
- At times, I am unable to stay seated and need to pace around.

Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9)²⁹

			Not at all	Several days	More than half the days	Nearly every day
1.	bee	er the <i>last 2 weeks</i> , how often have you n bothered by any of the following blems?				
	a.	Little interest or pleasure in doing things				
	b.	Feeling down, depressed, or hopeless				
	c.	Trouble falling/staying asleep, sleeping too much				
	d.	Feeling tired or having little energy				
	e.	Poor appetite or overeating				
	f.	Feeling bad about yourself or that you are a failure or have let yourself or your family down				
	g.	Trouble concentrating on things, such as reading the newspaper or watching television.				
	h.	Moving or speaking so slowly that other people could have noticed. Or the opposite; being so fidgety or restless that you have been moving around a lot more than usual.				
	i.	Thoughts that you would be better off dead or of hurting yourself in some way.				
2.	que	ou checked off any problem on this estionnaire so far, how difficult have se problems made it for you to do your	Not difficult at all	Somewhat difficult	Very difficult	Extremely difficult
	wor	k, take care of things at home, or get ng with other people?				

58

PHQ-9* Questionnaire for Depression Scoring and Interpretation Guide

For physician use only

Scoring:

Count the number (#) of boxes checked in a column. Multiply that number by the value indicated below, then add the subrotal to produce a total score. The possible range is 0-27. Use the table below to interpret the PHQ-9 score.

Not at all	(#)× 0 =
Several days	(#)× 1 =
More than half the days	(#)× 2 =
Nearly every day	(#) × 3 =

Total score:

Interpreting PHQ-9	Scores		Actions Based on PH9 Score
		Score	Action
Minimal depression	0–4	< 4	The score suggests the patient may not need depression treatment
Mild depression	5–9		
Moderate depression	10–14	> 5–14	Physician uses clinical judgment about treatment, based on patient's duration of symptoms and functional impairment
Moderately severe depression	15–19		
Severe depression	20–27	> 15	Warrants treatment for depression, using antidepressant, psychotherapy and/or a combination of treatment.

 $^{^{\}circ}PHQ-9 \ is \ described \ in \ more \ detail \ at \ the \ McArthur \ Institute \ on \ Depression \ \& \ Primary \ Care \ website \ www.depression-primary care.org/clinicians/toolkits/materials/forms/phq9/$

CLIENT NAME:	DATE:
CLIENT ID#:	MD:

BRIEF PSYCHIATRIC RATING SCALE (BPRS)²⁶

Please enter the score for the term which best describes the patient's condition.

0 = not assessed, 1 = not present, 2 = very mild, 3 = mild, 4 = moderate, 5 = moderately severe, 6 = severe, 7 = extremely severe

1. SOMATIC		5. GUILT FEELINGS	
CONCERN Degree of concern over present bodily health. Rate the degree to which physical health is perceived as a problem by the patient, whether complaints have a realistic basis or not.	SCORE	Over-concern or remorse for past behavior. Rate on the basis of the patient's subjective experiences of guilt as evidenced by verbal report with appropriate affect; do not infer guilt feelings from depression, anxiety or neurotic defenses.	SCORE
2. ANXIETY		6. TENSION	
Worry, fear, or over- concern for present or future. Rate solely on the basis of verbal report of patient's own subjective experiences. Do not infer anxiety from physical signs or from neurotic defense mechanisms.	SCORE	Physical and motor manifestations of tension "nervousness", and heightened activation level. Tension should be rated solely on the basis of physical signs and motor behavior and not on the basis of subjective experiences of tension reported by the patient.	SCORE
3 EMOTIONAL WITHDRAWAL	SCORE	7. MANNERISMS AND POSTURING	SCORE
Deficiency in relating to the interviewer and to the interviewer situation. Rate only the degree to which the patient gives the impression of failing to be in emotional contact with other people in the interview situation.	SCORE	Unusual and unnatural motor benavior, the type of motor behavior which causes certain mental patients to stand out in a crowd of normal people. Rate only abnormality of movements; do not rate simple heightened motor activity here.	SCORE
4. CONCEPTUAL			
4. CONCEPTUAL DISORGANIZATION	SCORE	8. GRANDIOSITY Exaggerated self-opinion,	

60

9. DEPRESSIVE MOOD		14. UNCOOPERATIVENESS	
Despondency in mood, sadness. Rate only degree of despondency; do not rate on the basis of inferences concerning depression based upon general retardation and somatic complaints.	SCORE	Evidence of resistance, unfriendliness, resentment, and lack of readiness to cooperate with the interviewer. Rate only on the basis of the patient's attitude and responses to the interviewer and the interview situation; do not rate on basis of reported resentment or uncooperativeness outside the interview situation.	SCORE
10. HOSTILITY		15. UNUSUAL THOUGHT	
Animosity, contempt, belligerence, disdain for other people outside the interview situation. Rate solely on the basis of the verbal report of feelings and actions of the patient toward others; do not infer hostility from neurotic defenses, anxiety, nor somatic complaints. (Rate attitude toward interviewer under "uncooperativeness").	SCORE	CONTENT Unusual, odd, strange or bizarre thought content. Rate here the degree of unusualness, not the degree of disorganization of thought processes.	SCORE
11. SUSPICIOUSNESS		16. BLUNTED AFFECT	
Brief (delusional or otherwise) that others have now, or have had in the past, malicious or discriminatory intent toward the patient. On the basis of verbal report, rate only those suspicions which are currently held whether they concern past or present circumstances.	SCORE	Reduced emotional tone, apparent lack of normal feeling or involvement.	SCORE
12. HALLUCINATORY BEHAVIOR		17. EXCITEMENT	
Perceptions without normal external stimulus correspondence. Rate only those experiences which are reported to have occurred within the last week and which are described as distinctly different from the thought and imagery processes of normal people.	SCORE	Heightened emotional tone, agitation, increased reactivity.	SCORE
13. MOTOR		18. DISORIENTATION	
RETARDATION Reduction in energy level evidenced in slowed movements. Rate on the basis of observed behavior of the patient only; do not rate on the basis of patient's subjective impression of own energy level.	SCORE	Confusion or lack of proper association for person, place or time.	SCORE

Abnormal Involuntary Movement Scale (AIMS) 27

Instructions: Complete the examination procedure before making ratings. Circle score for each item.

Patient Name:	Date:	None	Minimal, may be extreme normal	Mild	Moderate	Severe
Facial and Oral Mov	ements					
		0	1	2	3	4
Lips and Perioral A e.g., puckering, p	rea pouting, smacking	0	1	2	3	4
Jaw e.g., biting, clene mouth opening, 4. Tongue	ching, chewing, lateral movement	0	1	2	3	4
Rate only increase both in and out inability to susta	of mouth, NOT	0	1	2	3	4
Extremity Movemen	ts					
Upper (arms, wrist Include choreic rapid, objectively irregular, spontal movements (i.e., complex, serpeniclude tremor (regular, rhythmic)	movements (i.e., y purposeless, neous); athetoid slow, irregular, tine). DO NOT i.e., repetitive, c).	0	1	2	3	4
6. Lower (legs, knees, e.g., lateral knee tapping, heel dro squirming, inver of foot	movement, foot	0	1	2	3	4
Trunk Movements						
7. Neck, shoulders, hi e.g., rocking, twi pelvic gyrations	ips isting, squirming,	0	1	2	3	4
Global Judgments						
8. Severity of abnorm	al movements	0	1	2	3	4
Incapacitation due movements	to abnormal	0	1	2	3	4
10. Patient's awarenes movements (rate of 0 = not aware; 1 2 = aware, mild	s of abnormal only patient's report) = aware, no distress; distress; 3 = aware, s; 4 = aware, severe	0	1	2	3	4
Dental Status						
11. Current problems dentures?	with teeth and/or	No	Yes			



AIMS Examination Procedure

Either before or after completing the Examination Procedure, observe the patient unobtrusively, at rest (e.g., in the waiting room)

The chair to be used in this examination should be a hard, firm one without arms.

- Ask the patient whether there is anything in his/her mouth (i.e., gum, candy, etc.) And
 if there is, remove it.
- 2. Ask patient about the current condition of his/her teeth. Do teeth bother patient now?
- Ask the patient whether he/she notices any movements in mouth, face, hands, or feet.
 If yes, ask to describe and to what extent they currently bother patient or interfere with his/her activities.
- Have patient sit in chair with hands on knees, legs slightly apart, and feet flat on floor. (Look at entire body for movements while in this position).
- Ask patient to sit with hands hanging unsupported. If male, between legs; if female and wearing a dress, hanging over knees. (Observe hands or other body areas).
- 6. Ask patient to open mouth. (Observe tongue at rest within mouth). Do this twice.
- Ask patient to protrude tongue. (Observe abnormalities of tongue movement). Do this twice.
- 8. Ask patient to tap thumb, with each finger as rapidly as possible for 10 to 15 seconds; first with right hand, then with left hand. (Observe facial and leg movements).
- 9. Flex and extend patient's left and right arms (one at a time).
- Ask patient to stand up. (Observe in profile. Observe all body areas again, hips included).
- 11. Ask patient to extend both arms outstretched in front with palms down. (Observe trunk, legs, and mouth).
- 12. Have patient walk a few paces, turn, and walk back to chair. (Observe hands and gait). Do this twice.

Guy W: ECDEU Assessment Manual for Psychopharmacology - Revised (DHEW Publ No ADM 76-338), US Department of Health, Education and Welfare; 1976.

Generalized Anxiety Disorder 7-item (GAD-7) scale²⁸

Over the last 2 weeks, how often have you been bothered by the following problems?	Not at all sure	Several days	Over half the days	Nearly every day
Feeling nervous, anxious, or on edge	0	1	2	3
2. Not being able to stop or control worrying	0	1	2	3
3. Worrying too much about different things	0	1	2	3
4. Trouble relaxing	0	1	2	3
5. Being so restless that it's hard to sit still	0	1	2	3
6. Becoming easily annoyed or irritable	0	1	2	3
7. Feeling afraid as if something awful might happen	0	1	2	3
Add the score for each column	+	+	+	
Total Score (add your column scores) =				

If you checked off any problems, how difficult have these made it for you to do your work, take care of things at home, or get along with other people?

Not difficult at all	
Somewhat difficult_	
Very difficult	
Extremely difficult	

Scoring

Scores of 5, 10, and 15 are taken as the cut-off points for mild, moderate and severe anxiety, respectively. When used as a screening tool, further evaluation is recommended when the score is 10 or greater.

Using the threshold score of 10, the GAD-7 has a sensitivity of 89% and a specificity of 82% for GAD. It is moderately good at screening three other common anxiety disorders—panic disorder (sensitivity 74%, specificity 81%), social anxiety disorder (sensitivity 72%, specificity 80%) and post-traumatic stress disorder (sensitivity 66%, specificity 80%).

Source: Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JBW, Lowe B. A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder. *Arch Inern Med.* 2006;166:1092–1097.

YOUNG MANIA RATING SCALE (YMRS)¹⁰⁰

GUIDE FOR SCORING ITEMS

The purpose of each item is to rate the severity of that abnormality in the patient. When several keys are given for a particular grade of severity, the presence of only one is required to qualify for that rating.

The keys provided are guides. One can ignore the keys if that is necessary to indicate severity, although this should be the exception rather than the rule.

Scoring between the points given (whole or half points) is possible and encouraged after experience with the scale is acquired. This is particularly useful when severity of a particular item in a patient does not follow the progression indicated by the keys.

Specify \mathbf{one} of the reasons listed below by putting the appropriate number in adjacent box.

1.	ELEVATED MOOD	
		0 - Absent
		1 - Mildly or possibly increased on questioning
		2 - Definite subjective elevation; optimistic, self-confident; cheerful appropriate to content
		3 - Elevated, inappropriate to content; humorous
		4 - Euphoric; inappropriate laughter; singing
2.	INCREASED MOTOR ACTIVI	TY ENERGY
		0 - Absent
		1 - Subjectively increased
		2 - Animated; gestures increased
		3 - Excessive energy; hyperactive at times; restless (can be calmed)
		4 - Motor excitement; continuous hyperactivity (cannot be calmed)
3.	SEXUAL INTEREST	
		0 - Normal; not increased
		1 - Mildly or possibly increased
		2 - Definite subjective increase on questioning
		 Spontaneous sexual content; elaborates on sexual matters; hypersexual by self-report
		4 - Overt sexual acts (toward patients, staff, or interviewer)
4.	SLEEP	
		0 - Reports no decrease in sleep
		1 - Sleeping less than normal amount by up to one hour
		2 - Sleeping less than normal by more than one hour
		3 - Reports decreased need for sleep
		4 - Denies need for sleep
5.	IRRITABILITY	
		0 - Absent
		2 - Subjectively increased
		4 - Irritable at times during interview; recent episodes of anger or annoyance on ward
		6 - Frequently irritable during interview; short, curt throughout

THE BLACK BOOK OF PSYCHOTROPIC DOSING AND MONITORING

8 - Hostile, uncooperative; interview impossible

6.	SPEECH (Rate and Amount)	
		0 - No increase
		2 - Feels talkative
		4 - Increased rate or amount at times, verbose at times
		6 - Push; consistently increased rate and amount; difficult to interrupt
		8 - Pressured; uninterruptible, continuous speech
7.	LANGUAGE - THOU	JGHT DISORDER
		0 - Absent
		1 - Circumstantial; mild distractibility; quick thoughts
		2 - Distractible; loses goal of thought; change topics frequently; racing thought
		3 - Flight of ideas; tangentiality; difficult to follow; rhyming, echolalia
		4 - Incoherent; communication impossible
8.	CONTENT	
		0 - Normal
		2 - Questionable plans, new interests
		4 - Special project(s); hyperreligious
		6 - Grandiose or paranoid ideas; ideas of reference
		8 - Delusions; hallucinations
9.	DISRUPTIVE - AGG	RESSIVE BEHAVIOR
		0 - Absent, cooperative
		2 - Sarcastic; loud at times, guarded
		4 - Demanding; threats on ward
		6 - Threatens interviewer; shouting; interview difficult
		8 - Assaultive; destructive; interview impossible
10.	. APPEARANCE	
		0 - Appropriate dress and grooming
		1 - Minimally unkempt
		2 - Poorly groomed; moderately dishevelled; overdressed
		3 - Dishevelled; partly clothed; garish make-up
		4 - Completely unkempt; decorated; bizarre garb
11.	INSIGHT	
		0 - Present; admits illness; agrees with need for treatment
		1 - Possibly ill
		2 - Admits behavior change, but denies illness
		3 - Admits possible change in behavior, but denies illness
		4 - Denies any behavior change